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@ity and County } g5t .
~of Helo Pork,
of No.___ 7/ coee P
~oarupaiwn W 2 being duly sworn
deposes and says, that the premzses No. /7/ . @gf W ‘

Street, ______;___ Ward in the City and County afaresazd the satd bemg a %—%

 and whzch was acauﬁzed by depanent as a. \O/ et

entergd by means M /A(/e

M‘JWW

. 7 ,

R on the ST aﬁ#’;[ ‘. day O}M_ zc?fﬂ
an e fahawmg praperty JSeloniously taken stolen, anc.i ca,rrwd away, viz:

% W

/ [

“were B UBGLA_RIOUSL X

=
.
e

tho property of WM m w.,{w“ .. AN
/ \

Xy G
and depon t furthtr salys, that he has great cause to believe, and does believe, that the aforesaid

Operiy taken, stolen carried away by .







G059 usyny,

g

/7 District Police Court.

belna duly exammed before the under-

: ‘swned accordmfr to laW on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is  h = right fo

make a statement in relation to the charge awamst h4-3 ; that the statement is designed to

enable h’

that. he

against

__,Qy.qstigﬁ-__.

Answer

if he see fit to answer the charge and explmn the facts alleged against h «__
is at liberty to waive making a statement, and tha,t h ) waiver cannot .be used

h \ on the- trial.

What is your n

Question.

Answer.

Questz’bn.

" Answer.

Qi&estz‘on.

‘Where iye, and how long have you resided there %

Answer.

- Question.

d

‘What is your business or profession %

Answer.

&Wf%%

Question.

'G1ve any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the

testimony against you, and state a,ny facts which you think will tend to your

exculpatlr»ﬁ




040059 usyny

o7 see. 1982200,

CIT

. ND'

/ ....Distriet Police Court.

c'o‘U'N'vr:v‘ }55 B

W YORK, .

L 2 L ol AT ..being duly examined befors -the under-

signed

rding to law, on the annexed' charge; and being informed that it ig h <, right to

make & statement in relation to the charge against h S ;that the statement is designed to-

- enable h

that he
against

"if he see fit. to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h <
is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h s, Waiver cannot be used

h? *  on the trial.

Quéstion-&“’ha%zour name ¢ : A
Answer. : W .

=

Answer.

"Quest‘z“on. . How old are you ?
. Answer. / cj \ P VG “ . ‘

Question. Whex"e were you born ? - | ~

Answer. fd

» Questz’on. Where do you live, a .ow long 112wé you resided thgre?

Answer. | (77 % 4;——_“ o

" Question. What is your busi ‘ylession ? T

anser. g

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the

. testimony against you, and state any facts whici you think will tend %o your
exculW

— —




Sec. 198—200. _ _ , . ' /District Police Court.
" CITY ANDZOUNTY : -

Or N% ) |
/ O W being duly examined before the under-

Signed according to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is hes right to
make a statement in relation to the charge against ht% that the statement is designed to
enable 1114,\ if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h

that he is at liberty to waive making a sta,tement and that h -—= waiver cannot be 1‘:5\\@1

against (_,\ on the trial.

Question. What is your.

Answer.

Question.

Answer.

Question.

Answer.

Questzon.

Ans’wcfrm B / Z?

Question. What is your busmess or professmn ?

An.s"wer

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances 'Lppearmfr in the

testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

exculpatio; ) :
2t [
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committed, and that there is sufficient cawse to belicve the within namnved

It appearing to me by the within depo‘sit'i,ons and statements that the erim, erein :f;ﬁned has }{en
g
Crecs

> I opder that ﬂw be Nveld to answer the same ard e be admittted 1o bail in the sum of

Tundred ollars, and be comppiited to the Warden and Keeper of

thaC\'itW the City of New York, until /77 Sive sug ﬁ > 7 '
% A L _ v m
WW < # M 2 Police Justice.

Dated 18 i

1 have admilted the above-named.. =

to bail to answer by the undertalking hereto annexed.

Police Justice.

Dated - 8

i

There being no sufficient cause to believe the within nomed
\

- SWILLY of the offence within mentioned. I order k  tobe discharged.

Police Justice.




CITY AND COUNTY |
OF NEW YORK, }

e SkRROE, beilZ]y sworn deposes and
says, that he has heard read the foregoing afidavit 0&% (s . /e

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponents’ own

knowledge.

Sworn to bq]"oyﬁ

cccév\—ls *;




Eourt of General Sessions of the Peare

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

TrE PEOPLE oF THE STATE OF NEW YORK,

against

of the CRIME OF BURGLARY IN THE THIRD DEGREE, committed as follows :

late of the WM ‘Ward of the City of New York, in the County of New York

aforesaid, on the day of in the year of our Lord one

thousand eight ¥andfed and eigh#y- , with force and arms, in the
time of the same day, at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, $he-

‘there situate, feloniously and burglariously &id break into am;i“enter, with. intent t;')

commit some grime therein, to wit me&l property

of ‘the said M / ‘ » Eéa)
\W W‘/Q in-the-said-direllina-heouse-then and there being, then and

there feloniously and burglariously to steal, take and carry away, against the form of

the Statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the
State of New York, and their dignity.




SECOND COUNT—

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment, further accuse the said

of the CrRIME oF @(/M LARCENY- : , committed as follows :

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on_the day, and in

the year aforesaid, at the Waxrd, City and County aforesaid, in the

time of said day, with force and arms,

e

)
e S

y

;- : .
of the goods, chattels, and personal property of oné W W

s G0 Cod
in the d&welling house /?f the said ’ ' : —_

o o 2l
there situate, then and there being found,’\frem—-ﬂ&e—&welling—heuse aforesaid, then and
there feloniously did steal, take and carry away, against the form of the Statute in
such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New

York, and their dignity.




THIRD- COUNT.

o . s e - L.
AND THE G'RAND JURY AFOR}@‘S“AID, by this indictment, further accuse the said
. EIag o - A C .

i

of the(CRIME OF REOEIVING STOLEN (Gt00oDS, com: as follows :

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards to wit: on the day and in
the year aforesaid, with force and arms, at the Ward, City and County aforesaid,

of the goods, chattels and personal property of

by ® certain persem—or persons to the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, then lately before

A
feloniously stolen from the said W

unlawfully and unjustly, did feloniously receive and have ; (the said

_then and there well knowing the_said goods, chattels and personal property to have been
feloniously stolen), against the form of the Statute in such case made and provided,
and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

JOHN R. FELLOWS,
District Attorney.
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Counsel,

Fileq X

(Section 498,V ¢ S & S =

Burglaryin the THIRD DEGREE

JOHN R. FELLOWS,
District Attorney.
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| 4#**REPORT OF THE NEW YORK SOCIETY FOR
" THE PREVENTION OF CRUELTY
TO CHILDREN.
100 EAST 23p STREET,

@rm '/7//z/ /7”W7¢4/ /I?/ | »

. CASE NO..J.. 5737705 OFFICER... ?74W.z/
DATE OF ARREST ... Fhrrtrsedbs— SPT o
CHARGE Koprzg it

- . , - a4

. AGE OF
RELIGION . 5
o CFATHER oo A 22 ZCAE

- MOTHER ... R v Q/¢77/7%"f;

RESIDENCE Ny (“'9 o M )
AN INVESTIGATION BY THE SOCIETY SHOWS THAT /«// W/MWW

G P2 / crrre Sormrer 2Tt

df// méc% ¢¢ 4£¢¢c // 4%%1%2{(
| K M@‘\ -




..E.u MYOX MAN
490918 PEz 1587 00!

9.5 ‘quIpLsaLg
‘A¥¥FH "1 FOHAINETH

_ "u21pI1Yo 03
;u_ws._ouo:o_pco,.»o‘_n_c:u;&

f301008 3404 MON oyl Jo jiodoy |

Va

§ ‘2Q00 TVNEJ
//

/

s
N
i A}
N

N
R
»_r
\

\-L_'




CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK,

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponents’ own

knowledge.

Sworn to

Police Justice.

T ' 4, 8




Police Court—... .. ' District.

Qthg ) @ontity )

‘ ot ﬁﬁxm i]nrh,

OJ‘NO et A .Years,
occupatzon / ax il . . bezn(/ d’l&%mn
depoaes and sa'c/s, that the ]_97 emises No. %/7 Ward

and which was occupied,y

and in which there was at the time @ human being,
S ‘
'd LY TOow A

we BURGLARIO USL,Y entered Z)J means of foreibly...

i - 7 ,
on the // Z...day of/ M%ﬁ@/ 1&% tn the..4 ; and the

foZZowm(/ property felondously taken, stolen, and carried a'wm/, viz:

W@ﬁ%aﬂ/@ ﬁmm@w
@/)c/(Wa

~ 2N
the property of: W/}\M\

and deponent further says, that he has great cause to belwve, and does bei lieve, t]Laf the a]‘o;esmc/
BURGLA. ; , carvied away by

",
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Magistrate.

General Sessivns.

on the complaint of

TIE PEOPLE, de.,
....to answer

Police Court, _______ District.

Witnesses,
No.




Secc. 198—200. District Police Court.

being duly examined before the under-
signed according to law, on the%.mexed charge ; and being informed that it is Tl right to
make a statement in relation to the charge against htw~ ;that the statement is designed to
enable h e~~  if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h e—~——
that The ‘is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that he~ waiver cannot be used

against h v~  on the trial.

Question... What is. your-name?

e Answer. ...

Question. Howoldareyoul ..

Answer. AT

. _Question. . Where were you . born ?

Answer,

Question. Where do you live, and how long have you resided there?
Answer. 3 e ﬁg%’—— — I

Question. What is your business or profession? | .

Question. Give any explanation you may_thinkk proper of the circumstances appearing._ in_the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

exculpation ? , : e e

Answer.

Answer.

SV 90U 9.4045q UdYD],

(A < A

VSIS 20270
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Offence. ... N

=3

SITUI W

“DIRISIL
aéx

1t appearing to me by the within depositions and statements that the crime therein menticned luas been

comvmitted, and that there is sufficient cause to beligte the wighin nanwd

gWreof, Lorderthat he be held to answeffthe same and  he  be admitted to bai%nz of

W Lt B WO Hundred Dollars : and be commitied to the Warden and Keeper of

‘the City R soft, pf tha_C’;/of Ngw Fork, until he %%
Dated..: ﬂ of olice Justice.

I have admitted the above-named,

to bail to answer by the undertaking lereto annexed.

Dated . 18 Police Justice. .

There being no sufficient cawse to lelicve the within named

) Suilty of the offence within mentioned. T order v to be dischagged.

Police Justice.

Dated,




Eourt of General Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

TeE PEoPLE or THE STATE oF NEW YORK,

against

e Gy

Th rand Jury of e City and County of New York, by this indictment,

of the ORIME oF BURGLARY IN THE THIRD DEGREE, committed as follows:

The said /\44/ j s

late of the W Ward of the City of New York, in the County of New York

aforesaid, on the M day of in the year of our Lord one

thousand eight, hundred and eighty— , with force and arms, in the

—_—

time/of the same day, at the d, City and ()Coynt/yg%esaid, the

there situate, feloniously and burglariously did bx into. and enter, with intent to
" commit som the \#0ods, chatitels apd personal property
Z

e crime therein, to wit : with injent,
of the said &I/IW ), eee Elai

v
W ﬂ% then and there being, then an
there feloniously and bffglariously to steal, take and carry away, against the form of

the Statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the
State of New York, and their dignity.




SECOND COUNT-—

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment, further accuse the said

.-of the CrrymE ¢F LAROENY, 7 — , committed as follows :
The said %

late of the Waxd, City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the dgy and in
the year aforesaid, at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, in the W

time of said day, with force and arms,

of the goods, chai;fels, and personal property of one@w 0 . M
in the éaml—l-i—ng—heme%f the said W gw
there situate, then and there being found, ine aforesaid, then and

N
there feloniously did steal, take and carry away, against the form of the Statute in

such case made and provided, and ag: § the peace of the People of the State of New
York, and their dignity.




THIRD COUNT.

AND 1HE GRAND JURY ATORESAID, by this indictment, further accuse the said

of the CRIME oF REOEIVING STOLEN Goops, committed as follows :

The said

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards to wit: on the - day and in
the year aforesaid, with force and arms, at the Ward, City and County aforesaid,

of the goods, chattels and personal property of

by a certain person or persons to the Grand J ury aforesaid unknown, then lately before
feloniously stolen from the said

unlawfully and unjustly, did feloniously receive and have ; (the said

- then and there well knowing the-said goéds; chattels and Ppersonal property to have been
feloniously stolen), against the form of the Statute in such case made and provided,
and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

JOHN R. FELLOWS,

Distriet Attorney.
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Forgery in the Second Degres.
(Sections 511 and 521, Penal Code, )

JOHN R. FELLOWS,

/7 |
By 2 /1D
g /7// &____ District Atlorney,

N s

A True Bill.

e

Foreman,

r
A




Police CoOwtty - District.

City and County
o N Yo | | %W@ZZ&
Street, aged. Viﬁ / years,

W being duly sworn, deposes and says,




Sec. 198—200. : S : District Police Court.

0% W . being duly examined before the under-

signed accordmw to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is h right to
make a statement in rvelation to the charge against h ; that the statement is designed to
enable h if he see fit to answer the charge and explm the facts alleged against h <,

that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h \ waiver cannot be used

CITY AND COUNTY |
OF NEW YORK,

against h on the trial.
Question. _What'is your name? -
Answer. M\ K QW

Question. How old are you?

Answer, / /"'}c,w——,
v

Question. "Where were you born %

Answer. %ﬁ

Question. Where do you live, and how long have you resided there ?

Answer. j/\? 5\ b( H’ W% %@___,_#-f &ﬁﬁ___

Question. What is your business or profession ¢

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think W111 tend to your

exculpation? v

" Answer.

%M

40 fimp -

" SUIY] 9Us 240.,6q UIYDT,

P

2 &st

2oy 20y0




Sec. 151, . Police Court.. . District.,

CITY AND COUNTY s TIn the name of the People of the State of New York ; 4o the Sheriff of the County
' OF NEW YORK, : of New York, or to any Marshal or Policeman oy the City of' New York, GREETING :

‘Whereas, Complaint in writin 7 and ubon oath, has begn made before th ndersigned, one of the Police

Justices for the City of New York, b

72

at the City of New York, in the County of New-York, f)/\Q/

Wherefore, the said Complainant has prayed<that the said Defendant may be apprehended and bound to
- answer the said complaint.

These are Therefore, in the name of the PEOPLE of the State of New York, to command yoy
Sheriff, Marshals and Policemen, and each and ev-ery of you, to apprehend the said Defendant and bring... .7 LA
forthwith before me, at the ‘ DISTRICT POLICE COURT, in the said City, or in case of my absence
or inability to act, before the nearest or most accessible Police Justice in this City, to answer the said charge, and to

be dealt with according to law.

- Dated at the ity of New York, this.. 8 . 88 a

/zg/,//'é/j,/ T E JUSTICE,
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It appearing to me by the within depositions and statements that the crime therein mentioned has been

committed, and that there %Zmuyig ithin named
- :

guilly thereof, I order that he be held to answer the same and he be admitted to bail in the sum of

~2undred Dollars, and be committed to the Warden and Keeper of

Dated, ( 1fg 0 _ ,Q Nz %r/yﬁ% T T stice.

m—

the City @f the City of New York, until he give such bail.

I have admitied the above-named.

Zo bail to cmswef by the undertaking hereto annezed.

Police Justice.

Dated 188

There being no sufficient cause to believe the within named,

guilty of the offence within mentioned, I order % to be discharged.

Police Justice.
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468 9th Street,
Brooklyn,

"To Whomsoever it may concern:

As the pastor of John Gasett, it

Ve
gives me pleasure to testify of his uniform

good character in the past, and of the hlgh
esteem in which he held by all that are ac—
Quainted with him. , His associateg have been

LV Y
good and his habits, have exemplary.

vt

vVery sincerely,
[ 1 N
<

Pastor 12th St. Ref. Church, Brooklyn,
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OFFICES OF HIMAM  BARKEY.
EOWARD WELLS,

BARNEY & WELLS, ' ’
. EDWARD WELLS, JH,
ATTORNEYS & COUNSELORS AT LAW, —p TR
TrinTy Bunoing, 111 Broapway,
New Yoak City,
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Hewspaper Aduertising,
 Bittsburgh, B,
Tvibnsste Prcilding, Notn York.
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Gourt of General Sessions of the Peace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

TH®r PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORE,
A}

against .

oupty of New York aforesaid, on the

in the year of our Lord

» with force and arms, at the City and

County a,foresa,ld feloniously did forge, and caise and procure to be forged, and willingly

act and assist in the forging a certai 1nstrument and writing, *éza- < vﬂ/“L

’ ch said forged M

is as follows, that is to say :

P, (e €Ty
g %WW %f%/ 7
%ﬁ%m aj@@%%%

agamst the peace of the People of the State of \Tew Yorl "md their chgmt.y.




SECOND COUNT—

And the F: id, b this indictment, further accuse the said

. CO DEGREE, committed as follows :

' = ———late-of-the " City and County aforesaid, aiterwwrds to wit: on the day and in the year
'} aforesaid, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, did feloniously utter,
dlspose of and put off as true, g ce1ta%d instrument and writing,

¢

1s as iollows thmt is to say :

~ 0l

Ny

e vﬁth;intent to defraud % the sai

d
: .. there well nowing the same to be
: forged aga.mst the form of the Statute in such case made a;

nd provided, and against the peace
of the ‘People of the State of New York and their dlmnty

JOHN R. FELLOWS,

Distriet Attorney.
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Police Court— District.

@ity and Connty ){ )
of Felv Pork, (*

af No. CjZ/? . g/em &,
oceupation ('/%(4 0/ z.....betng duly sworn

/
deposes and says, that t7Le premises INo kfﬂ ? @ pd (j /K- Street,

@n the 022 and Coum‘ Y (gforesazd tk%i/ /

i which was occupzed by (Ze_ponent as a

2 : FITTC e 207

were BMRLOU&:L X centered by means fom ctbly MW/

LT

on the 420 day vy of ISydz'n the . A€ Ces time, and the
Jollowing property feloniously tuken, stolen, and carried away, viz:

£

{Zwve, that the aforesaid

. \h URG—LARY was commn‘t}%d the aqforesaid ]Wen, stolen, and ptéryic

d away by
e erety SR




" Sec. 198—200. ‘ ) I 7 District Police Court.

CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW_YORK, %55'

T coF éing duly examined before the under-
signed according to law, 0% annexed charge; and being informed that it is L right to
make a statetment in reld#dn to the charge against h L athat the statement is designed to .
enable haAa~A-if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against he e/ |
that he is at"liberty to waive making a statement, and that IS~ waiver cannot be used
against h q_~~—~on the trial.

__Question.  What isyeurname? . . .}/

Answer.

Question. How old are you ?

Answer.

Question. "W here were y

An swer.. W

Questwn Where do you live, and how long have you resided there ?

Answer.

Quesl7o7z Wlnt is your b sines

Answer

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the

“testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your
exculpation ¢
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he . be admitied to bail in the sum of

Swbilty Jhereof, Tordgrthat he  be held to answer the same and
O ﬁMndmd Dollars, gnd be committed to the Warden and Keeper of

the City Prisqn, of the Lity o * New York, wntil he 3 i7. /@&M g '
)
Dated 18 q 0 ' 44 m -

T have admitted the above-named.

to bail to answer by the u;nclartwking‘ Tereto annexed.

o

Ea

Dated 18 : . Police Tustice.

There being no sufficient cause to believe the within named

Suwilty of the offence within mentioned. I order Tv to be discharged.

JPolice Justice.




Gourt of General Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YoRK,

against

/S S
Jury of the City d County of New York, by this indictment,

accuse

of the CRIME oF BURGLARY 1N THE THIRD DEeREE, committed as follows :

The sai
LA A
late of the WWM& of the Gity of New York, in the County of New York
aforesaid, on th /0?6/1/ day of in the year of our Lord. one
thousand eight hundred and eighty-. ' _ » with force and arms, in the

——¢time of the same day, at the d, City and County aforesaid, the

dwelling hotige 6f one

there. situate, feloniously and burglarious id break into and- enter, with intent to:

commit some cr i it: wi : 1s and personal property
of the said 4 —_—

. : in the said dwelling house fhe there being, then and
there feloniously and riously to stéal, take and carry away, against the form of
the Statlite in such case made and"pi'ovidea, and againsf the péace of the People of the
State of New Yorlk, and their dignity. '




SECOND COUNT—

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment, further accuse the said

————

' : 4
of the CrIME oF LAROENY eet ZZ,[( l2ere/ % , committed as follows :

The gaid

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on,the day and in
the year aforesaid, at the Wazd, City and County aforesaid, in the —
time of said day, with force and arms,

in the dwelling house of the said

there situate, then and there being found,\from the dwelling house aforesaid, then and
there feloniously did steal, take and carry away, against the form of the Statute in
such case made and provided, and agdinst thes




THIRD COUNT.

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, furtheér accuse the said

of the CrRIME oF RECEIVING STOLEN Goops, committed as follows :
‘The said

late of- the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards to wit: on the day and in
the year aforesaid, with force and arms, at the Ward, City and County aforesaid,

" of ﬂi’eﬁg;dodé,‘ chattels and personal pfopei'ﬁfof :

" by a certain person or persons to the Grand Jur

¥ aforesaid unknown, then lately before
feloniously stolen from the said

unlawfully and unjustly, did feloniously receive and have ; (the said

“then and there We]l‘knov?ing the said
feloniously stolen),

and against the peac

goods, chattels and Pbersonal property to have been
against the form of the Statute in such cagse

made and provided,
e of the Peoplé of the State of N. ew York and their dignity.

JOHN R. FELLOWS,
District Attorney.
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Gilligan, Bernard
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(Bection 219, Penal Code).

A

JOHN R. FELLOWS, .

74 ”t, Altorney. -
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Gourt of General Sessions of the Peure

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YORK,

against

ww

0

The Grand J ury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

of the CrRIME or ASSAULT IN THE THIRD bEGREE, committed as follows:

The said WW .
2 .

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on thw

day of “CNmrssmr i , in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

e&g}f&ye,..;;.&{t the City and County aforesaid, in and upon the body of one 3\ S oo

X%mm.,in the peace of the said People then and there being, with force

and arms, unlawfully did make an assault, and —Re———u—_ , the said KSMX
%;AM ,did then and there unlawfully beat, wound and ill-treat, to the great damage

of the said‘\hbb:\._'g‘w NM R against the form of the

statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of

" 'New York and their dignity.”

JOHN R. FELLOWS,
District Attorney
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I
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THE PEOPLR COURrF OF GENFRAL SFSSIONU, PART I.
. vSe ‘ . '
CHARLES GLATT. BEFORE JUDGE MARTINE.
Friday, December 5, 1890.

Jointly indieted with Jonn Wagner for grand larceny

7‘« YA
in the second degrees. %g;mqn /ﬁn ;g; el
A Jury was empaz,uelled ard sworn. R A < /'/‘aéd

EMELIA GREENWALD sworn and examined by
Mr. Davis, throaigh the Interpreter.
Mrs. Greenwald, where deo you live? No- 526 East 14th S+.
Are you a married woman? A. Yes sir.
Are you living with your husband now? A. NO.
Do ycu knew where yoﬁr husbhand is? ’ A. NO.
Did your husband leave yoeu, and if so, when? A. About

three years ago he xefi me with three children.

At the_timé he left you did you have any childrer?

A. Yes sirp.
How many? A. Three.
And how o0ld were they? A. Fleven, twelve, nine
and seven, four, the girl nine years he took along with him,
What vas her nare? ~ A. Minna Greenwald.
And the one he tock along with him wgs Minna Creenvaid,

was it? A. Yes.

Now haVO you se~n your husbardi or yYour. daughter Minna since

he lef+ you about three years ago? . A; ﬁb?«never,
Do you know where they are? A« NO-.
Who supports you and your children since vour husband lefy
you?
Objected to as immaterial. Objection overruled.
Exceptione

"I have supported my children and mysell.




By Mr.

Now whenwdid vou fHrst meét this man Glatt,; the Defendant?
A. About the month of June this year.

Where was it that you met himt A. They moved iuto iie
same house wiere I moved out of, 612 East 13th Street.

Was it there where ycu me+t hime? A. That is where I got-
acquainted with the family. in 13+th Streét-
Cog}t- Q{ Did she live theré at the time they moved in?

A. Shewmoved out, I was away two months already before
they moved im; two months befors they moved in I had
moved out, about that.

Davis. Q. Did you see him after that? A. I left a
stove there in the fowm, I went there to get the stove ard
that,is vilere I got acquainted with the family. .

Did she meet him frequently alier that? A. His wife an
childreﬂ and himself ﬁsed t0 come +t0 me sSometimes to visit,
me a few times;

Do you remember ever having had any conversation with him
about your husband and child, the child that was taken away
by your husband? A. I did.

Whaﬁ did you tell him in tha+t conversation? A. I +0ld
him all aboat the affairs, how unhappy I felt that my child
was away, etc., the whole affair-

Ask her mnow vhat she told-him, I want to know what shg told
him? A. That my child wént away so long, that my hus-—-
band is away, that I got very hard work to sus tain myself.
Now how long after you met him first was it that you told

him about your husband and your child? A. About threc

or four weeks after she first got acquainted with him.

Three or four weeks? . A. Three or Tour weeks, about

T R
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Then he knew that ybur husband had left you and taken your
child with him¢? A. Yes sir, he heard about the whole
affair -- élso in the house from the people where I used
‘live.

Now do you know a man named Wagner? A. I do not knoyw
anybody only Wagner, onlﬁ the man who signed himself as

Wagner on my papers.

Where did you first see that man? A. At my house +the

same evening Glatt was ai my house, about an hour later.
Co@rt- Q- When was that? A. In the month of August.
Davis. Q. What part of August? ; Af About the middle of
August.

Now you .were +elling us about an hour later, what happencd?
A. Wagner came about an hour after Gla@t.

Had Glaﬁ£mbeen‘in your house the day'that Warner came there
first? A. A couple of days before Glatt was at my
house with his wife, a short time bhefore.
A short time before, two days before, do you mean that?

A. About a week befére.

Well novw, draw her attention to the day when Wagner came

to her house first.

Court. Q. Ask her il she recollects the time that Wagner

first came there, il she has a recollection of the fact?
That vas about the middle of August --- they both caﬁe ai
the same evening. N

What time did Wagner come in? A. Between seven and eight
o'clock .

Did they ¢ ome together? ~A. NO.

Who came First? A. Glatt was Tirst, I just came home

from vork.




DaGis- Qs You just caﬁe home from work ¢ A. Yes sir.

Now did you find Glatt there when vou came home from work?
A. He came just about the time when I came in; he came
rigﬁt in.

He came in with you? A. Yes sir.

And how long alter that ﬁas it that Wagner came in?

About an hour later.

Was Gla+tt there ﬁhen Wasner came? A. NO.

How lormy; had he been géne before Wagner came? A. Abousg
an hoﬁr he was gone.

ABout an hour? . -~ A. Yes sir.

'

How ask her if she had ever seen Wagner until he came in on

that occasion® A. No, never seen him before; he rep-

resented himself as an attendant of a criminal court.

gl: Wont you ask the witness to say what he did say?

]

he Court. 4. Yes, that is right -- ask her what he said®
He asked me, "are you Mvs. Greenwald?" I told him, yes.
He said that he would like {0 have some talk with me. I
asked hih, “yhat do.you wvant?" ‘He said, "I would like to
have something to say to,you-"} I told him I 4id not know
him and wanted to know what he wantedt He said again, "I
want to have some talk with youa-" He said, "Mrs. Green-
wald, how 1ohg has your husband left you, how long has he
not been attending you to take c¢are of you and support you,
how longvhas the'child been gone, your girleh I askedLhﬂn,
Yhas amrithing happened to my childe? He says, "no, no =-
jﬁst wéit";‘he said, "what is the name of the woman who
wenﬁ awarvwith‘your_husband and took the child along®"

I told him, Betta Grosse. He said, "0 yes, that is right,




that is right." He said, "well, your husband has got to
sup}»c;r“d' f/ou, has got to givé you some alimony." I said,
vy toék care of myself so long alone I don't want nothing
fr‘om him." He says, "0, e can do something for you. 1
shall be here again in a short while." Then he went
away .

15 The witness is testilying © a conversation with Wagsner
ir: the absence of Glé.t‘c, the delendant. Unless it ap-
pears that the delfendant Glatt was present at that conver-
satiorn, I move that it all be stricken out.

Mr. Daviis: Upon that point, your Honor, _’ohe acts and declara-

tions of any of the conspirators are admissible against all

others when done j:zi furtherance ol the conspiraecy whether
they may be present or not. We have claimed in this case
oy a joint ind'ic‘gment that this is a conspiracy between
these +vwo defer;dmmts to get this woman's money. We claim
that Yarner, and we shall show by subsequenti evidence that.
Wagner was sent to this house by Glatt, t_,hat he pets in-
formation from Glatit in regard to this woman'sv circum~

stances. We will show jo}int} action subsequently right

up to the time that the money was taken from her.

*4y: I think where a conspiracy is cCharged then the con-

rersatlion is admissible.

,. Mr. Daviis: I can shov} cases where that is simply in the disrec~
tion of the Jud'geland .’not a matter of striect law. |

*t:  Judge Lawitencendid not think so. IFf you can offer the
roof ’sha.f you say you can why not build the case properly

as it should be. _ Show the conspiracy Tirst and then if

“you desire to offer other proof.




1: My motion to strike out is sustained¢
avis:i I make the promise here tc comnect the defendants,

and I am willing if I do no%t commect these two parties,

to have the testimony stricken out, I make tle promise +o

connect these two parties with this scheme.; +that makes

it simply an order of proof.

*t: - Why not prove it in the order?

avis: This is the chronological order in which these - facis

ocCcure

urt The conspiracy must be first proved. ‘Strﬁske it outs.
el: I ask your Honor t direct the Jury to disregard all

the tes+timony of +this witness with reference to the con-

versgation with Wagner.

-

The Cgurt: Yes, I will make that direction at this stage-
Of course if it should be submitted again axd admitted,

then vou mus+t consider it; as it stads it is a question

of order and I think the better order is the other way.

Mr. Didvis: I will accept your IHonor's ruling. I wish to sighf

the case of Stinsorn.

burt: I dc not say that the other mode ig not without prec-

edente.

M. D?vis: Then I understand that tke Tfact of Gla,t's vasit to

the house on this day and the fact thay Wagner came in

there and had a conversation and that she had never seen

Wamer before, that is ine




Counse
- The Cg

By Mp.

Davis. Q Now ask her how long Wapner stayed that evening?
Between twenty mirmates and a half® an hour.

Was he +talking with you all +his time? A+ Yes sir.

Then he left.yow I suppose, *did he? A. Yes, ne said e

would corme again.

L. - I objiect.

Hrt:  Never mind that, strike i+ out.
Davis. Q. Did you see (lsatt or Wagner again after that
evening? A. Glatt came again to my house Fiprst.

Wher: did he come next? A- The next day. ‘

What time? A. As I came home from work in the evening.
Was he there wvhen you arrived home from work?, or did e

come after you got home? A. He came after I was home.

Abdut vhat time was i+9 ) A_Q. Between six‘and’ seven.
Dad you have any conversation with him at that time, yes
or no? A. Yes sirp.
Now tell her to tell us everything that she saig and every-
thing that Glatt said? Ae I said, 'Wir. Glatt, lasteven-
ing there was a man here who knev ail about my ai‘fairs;:

rou send him to 'me, whnere does he know my affairs from?
She saiﬁ. to Glatt, "you know them aliz* Glatt said, "no,

he did not send him. I told him what this man said now.

Well nor, what did you tell him, tell us all that you told.

Glatt? - A< I to0ld him the manasked me all about my hus-
barid, he wanted to do some thing for my child; he said Ie
was an official of the eriminal courte. Bhe told Glats

that Warrier told her that e was an official of th Crimi-

nal Courky, and Glatt gave me an example, told me some cx-

ample of ‘some ‘other boor woman which had  the same affair

with a child.




Who +t0ld her that? A. Gilatt.

Well now. tell Mrs. CGreenwald to tell us és far as she con

the language of Glatt when he told her about this other

woman? A. He said, "0, I know a woman who has lost
her chiid and a bar-keeper deposited soﬁe money Ffor her,
the bar—keéper pai"cji\ for that poor vomar and ‘ibn this way she
g0t her child back again." That is abou+t the éxample he

told me.

Now what else did he say? A. Otherwise he did not say

much, he went away.

You 3%01ld him that Wagner said that he was atta&bd to a

criminal court? A:. Yes sir.
Did he say what ceriminal court? A- He said he was an
attendant or an official. ' ' .
Court.  Did you tell that to Glati? A: I t0ld Glat+
that he t0ld me that he was an official of the Courf.
. Davis. Q. What did Glatt say when you told him tha+t?
He was astonished over it;  he said he would be very happy

himself if I should get my child again, and he would make

her a present if I should get my ehild again.

Codrsel. Q. Would make the child a present? A. Yes, he

wonld give the child a present if the child should ome
pack, ££ I should gel my child agaiﬁ-

}Dav;s. Qe You.a:é tallzing now abowr the =2zt visit of
Glats after the Tirst visit of Wagner, are you noi?

A. Yes sir. |

Did you ses Wagner that day or that évening? A. Not the
same day.

Wot tha+t same day? A. Not that same day, no.

When next did you see Wagner?

A kst S




By the

By Mrie

A. About a week later Wagner came again.
And who was there when Wagner came? A. Glatt was'as

my house when Wagner came the second time.

And -this was about a week after he called first, was i{-,?
"Yes sir, about a week.

Who e¢ame Cirst, Glatt or '\‘Iamer? A. Glatte.

What time of day was 1%% A. It was in the forenoon, I
was- home. that day, I had no wvork.

What did Gla_tt say, what conversation did ‘you have with
him al+tor he came there, what did you talk about?

A. He vwas at my house a very short time, we could not
ltalk rmich when Wagner came in.

Did yon know that Glatt was coning that day? _A. MNO.
Did you know that Wagner was coming that day? A. NO.
Now tell us what was said when Wagner came in inv the pres-—
ence -of Glatt? Lﬂw

Court. Q. After Wagner came in who Tirst spoke? A. Wagner.

Davis. Q. Tell her now to tell us everything that was said

and done there in the presemnce of Glatt?

&

By th & Court. Q Tell her to take her time and tell us all that

happerned, let her take her mind back and tell us everything
that was said? A. Mrs. Greenwald, he says,

hovw do you Teel?" Wagner said that. *"T gn very mach ex-

f{eited obout the itro uble, about my child." He says, Wwell,

Mrs. Greenwald, come and youw go to Court with me. Have you

a Tew witnesses that may go with yoﬁ?" *"O, I said, I do
not know rignt away but I think I could find some." He
says, "do you know this gentlemé.n?" {Pointing to MR.Glatt!

Wagsnmer asked ‘her,‘ ‘"do you know this gentleman?" (Pointing

to Mr. Glatt.) I said, "yes, I know him a short while

et T T




By My

% i

andfhe knows my affairs;l he also knows that I ém é:decent
woman and he can be a witneg; for me.ﬁ He said, “all rightﬁ
,‘Davis.Q. Who said, all right ] A. Wagner. That is
all Wagner's conversations. He said to Mr Glatt, "can
you core along?" Glatt said,."all right, I have .to gc to
Brooklyr and I ean go dovm there first.® He asked me if
I had 2 bondsmarn.

Wés that at this time ? A. Wagner asked me if I had a
bondsmar:«

Was that at this time, the same day was 1t9 A. Wo,
that wvas the third time when he was theree.

Tell her +o0 tell us only about this time?.

Court. Q. Tell her to Tinish up +his occasion Tirst, tell
each occasion separatelye Ae We came down to Courte.
When? A. The saﬁe aay.

The first day? A. The first day.

By thL

“ By Mr

Court. Q. Was that the second time she saw him? A. Yes sir

:inlthe Presence of Glatt, "the Judge wants to see you."

In this room?

Davis; é, Tell her to wait --- draw her attention to this
second time, tell her we want her to tell us about the_
second time that Wagner came when Glatt Was there; keep on
thats A. There was not much further spokern, Wwe came

downr tc Courte.

'

Davis. Q. Now ask her if she has told us all that she ree-
ollects that Wagner'said t0o her in tne presence of Glat+?
A. Yes sir, that is all.

Well, now ask her if she recollects Wasner saying to her

~A. Yes sir, he said, the Judge wants to see me.

Ask her if she recollects that Wagner said to her, "have




you got anybody to g6 with you so that you would not 8o
alone, somebbdy t 0 aid and protect you and assist you?"

By thel Court. Q. Is that righte A. That is right.

B U

By Coumsel Q. Did you understand what the gentlemen just read +o

you?

e Court. Q. Did you understand?

S e

reter; Yes, she said she undezstpéd ite

Court. Q. Tell her to +tell in German that Wagner said,
the Judge wants to see you; tell her to tell whai else
Wagner said in that connectioﬁ and many of the Jury will
understand it? As That is about all) then ﬁe came

down together.

What else did he say, tell her she answered the question
of the District Attornmey put in Fnglish; we want her to

answe. i+t now put in German. What was it you understood

him to say?
Inferpreter: I Quess you had better repeat the question.

By Mrf Davis-. Q. Do you recollect Wagmer saying 10 you the fol~

lowing, put that:  YHave you got anybody to go with you,

so that you would mot go alone, somebody to aid you arnd

protect you and assist you'? A. Yes sir, he said that.

And do you recollect your saying in the presence of Glatt
"I do not;know anyone at present whq could go with me"?
Yes sir; 'thén Glatt was there at my house and he went
with me.

Ask her if she recollects séying to Wagner --- did you say
t0 Wagner then, "I.do 10t know anyone at present‘who could

go with me"? A. He asked me then if I knew Glatt-

Agk her this; who first suggested that Glatt sho.1d o

alon?_with her to Cour#®? A; Wagner spoke to Glatt,

i beidi




."do;you wvant to go aiohg", Wamer asked Glatt; He said,
"0 yes, I have got.to 70 to Brooklyn and I can £0 down
there first." Then I t0ld him, "0 well, if vou will be

8o kind it will be right." § - |

Now ask her this, did you leave.your hous= then after that?
A Ve 6ame dovn to Court.

Who éame dowvry to Court? A; Wagner, Glatt and myself.
Now before you left the house something was said abous a
.bondsman, vhat was that? A. That was the third time
when he came, then he asked me if I had a bondsmarn.

When Wermer suggested that Glatt should fon) with.you to
Court, you and Glatt and Wagner left your house, didn't
you? A. Yes sir, that was the [first time we ecame to
Court.

That was the Tirst time? A. Yes sip.

Now what did you talk about that time when you were coming

dovm to Court? A. We went into a large court house

down in the basement -- everything was covered with marble

and lots of writing on the side; it must be over in this
Court House, she says. He left Glatt and me down stairs
and e went up one of the Fflights of stairs.

Court- Q. Who left Glatt and vouv A. Wapgner.

Ask her where, standing in the basement or what?

. A. On the Cirst floor and he went up a Flight higher.

‘in a room or in the hall? A. In the hall.

Davis. Q. This was the Tirst time you came dowm to Coury,
was it? A. Yes sipr, that is the first tima.

How do you know it was a court? A+ He ﬁold me he was
going down to the Court with me; the judge wanted to see me.

Court. Q. Who told you? A. Wagner.




Davis. Q. Now was tha+t building where you are now this

building? A. This was the second time when I came herc.

I asked her about that building, the f’ix's‘t building” that
she went into? A. No, it mast have been thé next
building.

How lony were you there? A. Not long, not ten minutes.
Court. Q. You and Glatt wore there about ten minutes, is
that what you mean, before he retarned? A. We waited
dovn stairs and he went upstairs.

And he was gone how long? A. About five minutes; he

came down stairs and said, “the Judge is gone, you are too0
late." I t0ld him so we come down for'nothing.

- Daviss Q. Then vhat daid 7oL do? A; We went home again.
Who went home? A. lI vent home alone --- the others

stayed hack.

Court. . Where did you part with them ~—- agk her where
she serarated Ffrom them? A. Right here at the corner
neayr that big restaurant.

Davis. Q. Now which one did yoa sec next, Glati or Wapnoer?
A. Whén Glatt came to my house again.

When? '.»’\- Not very long after, about a couple of days
alter.

Court. Q. Where, at her house? A« At my house, yeé.

]

Davis. Q. Was he the first one that you saw? A. Yes sir.
What time of day was it% A. In the evening as I came
back from ‘work-

What did he say? As He diad xiob sé.y mu.ch, he happencad
to pass he said and he just came up.

Did you see Wasnmer that day? A. NO.

R




Court. Q. Ask her il yvhen Glatt came there on that occa-
sion when he happened to pass and came up, il he Said any-

thing at all about the husband or child or about g ing to

court or anything of the kind? A. Not that time.
Davis- Q. Which one did yéu see next? A. Then Wagner

came .

How long after? As Not quite a week, about a week.
Did he come to your ho.use? A. Yes sir.

Who was +there at the time? : AJ Glatt, he came along

to the Court at that time too.

What is +that? A. CGlati was at my house and Wagner came.

.Now tell us everything that was said +iere? A. Waggner

asked me if I had a bondsmane.
13
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What did you say? A. He saia, my husband was arrestead
and the woman is arrested and rmy ehild is in an institu-
tion and everything is settled. I told him, yes, I
éould'bring a bondsman -- those people who I am working for
ihat man would go my bond. O, he gaid, "that will give us
a good deal of rUnning,vhe has not got much time."

Who said this? A. Wagner.

Go on? A. He says, "well, can't you possibly get sc
much money, about a hundred dollars?? I said, "I have
saved myself a few dollars, can't I show my bhank-book,

that probabli will éhow that I am able to.support my childs
He seid, "you have to depoéit the money, otherwise you can-
£6t get the child —-- either a bondsman or deposit the

money . ¥ O ves, he said, "it might do, the hank bock might
do." Then we came dovwn 10 thevCourf‘aggin.

Who“cam¢ down to the Court? A. Glatt, Wagner and my-

Haes

self-




™

What Court did you come to? A In this Court here.
In this room here? A. Firstvhe let me wait ou.‘c,side
in the hall with Glatt and he went into some room-.
Do you méan the hall here, this hall here? A. Yes sir.
Court. Q. Ask hér- if she knows whether it was on this floor
or some other floor in this building? A« That I ceould
not teil so exac‘tly; she says, "I could not tell exactly
whether it was this floor or not.
She and Glatt waited outside, wha+t did she say Wamer 4did.
A. Went into some room ——- hev went with the bank book
intc-_ 8ome room amnil came back and said, "the bank boeok is
not sufficient;" he said, "well, yoiu. have got to bring
the money." Warner started and waited down stairs and
Glatt went to the Bark with me.
Davis. 7. Wégnev said that you would have to get the money,

M

did he? A. Yes sir, he said, "the book is not sufli-

cient, we have ot to have the money."
Now what did Glatt say when Wagner said that?
A. e says, "all right, I will go with you Mrs. Grecnwa.ld-‘
Go with you where® A. To the bank.
Court. Q. Did he; say to the bak? A. Yes sipr, he said
he would go with me to the bank.
Da‘;ris Q« Then what 33 wyou and Glatt do after that?

A. VWell, Wagner v.raited; and Glatt and me went to the bmk
and got the money and came back."
What bank did you go to? A. 14th St. and 4th Avenue,
the German Savings Baixk.
Béfore vyou went up to the“bank Aid Glatt have anything to

say? A. On the way he told me, "Mrs. Greenwald, got

two £if+4y dollar bills, that is thHe quickest done, it is




done the gquickest."
What cid you say to Glatt -then? A. All vright, I said,

Well, did you get two Tifties? A. ¥Mo, T did not ask

Tor it.

Did not ask for ite? - A. YNO.

In whaﬁ shape‘did you get the money? A. Five twenty
dollar bills I got.

Glatt there with you when you got the mbney?

A« Yes sir, he was with ma.

Was he near enough to sec the money? _ A. Yes.

Did he say anything about it% A. No, he diag not'say
anything particular; vie came dowr: here again.

Arnd wherno you got down here did you see Wagner?

A. He waited at tﬁe ¢co rmer at-a restaurant, Wagner care
along from across the s,reoﬁ_from the Court HouseAwith
sorne bocks under- his arme &latt says, "0 lock here, how
busy is this man, there he comes apgain with a whole lot cfff

books", referring to Warmer.

What else did he say about Wagner? A. Well, not much.

What was it, tell her %o try %o think?  A. He said, "he
thinks he is a very Tine gentleman, I have got to deal wiith
a very fine man.?

flatt said that? A. Yes sir, Glatt said that.

Givg us his words? A. Glatt said hevthinks he is a
very Tine gentleman; hesaid, "I think he is a very 1ine
gent leman .

Now go on and give us +the rest?y "I think he is a very fins

gentleman you have got t¢ deal wiih",.whét efse did he say

Interpreter: She had to deal with a very nice, Tine gentleman.

15
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Davis. Q- Whai else did Glatt say about Wasgner on that oc-
casion? A. Glatt said that Waﬁﬁef won a case for a
lady which got run over and he got ten thousand dollérs in
that case and he treated Glatt to a bottle oFf wine.

Ther: shie said something about a number of cases?

A. And he had sixty-five caées on hand.

Now tell her tco tell us aiter Glatt told her about Jagner'
sixty~-five cases and the weman who lost a foot?

A. VYes sir, lost a leg.

o

Court. Q. Which did she say, leg or Lootd
foot.
Davis. Q. Well now after that what did Glatt say or do

v

when he +told you about Wagner and the sixty-Tive cases?

A. I do not remember anything more.

Did you have your money,vyOur five twenty dollar bills
whers Glatt told yoa about these sixty-Tive cases?

A. No, Wagner had the money ithen. he told me that when
Glatt bhrought me that paper, that Wasgner had the money then
Court. Q. Was Glatt talking to her while Wagﬁer was stand-~
ing there? A. FNo, he vwas not talking to me in the
rresence of’ Warmer. .

Had hé cone away again? A Wapner asked the money off
me -— Wamer, Glatt and myself, we came up here.

Davis; Q- Now Mrs. Greenwald, I want you to tell us whero
you. bwere vhen you handed \'fagner the moriey? Ae I vas wiiy
Glatt ir: the restairant corner of Chamber and Center Sts.,

when Glatt came back with me from the bank then we went intd

that restaurant.

When you handed Wagner the money where did you go?®

A. Here in thislroom, I recognize the room by this cloth

‘here. (Pointing to' the drapery over the benen); Wagner

el




brough+t me and Glatt into this recom ard we sat on a bench.

On the bench.over there®? A. Yes sir, next to the AOOF
ory tha4 bench. l
Who sat on the bench? A Glatt and I;and Wagner said
"I vwill return socon."

Then where aid Wagner go? A. I could see .as much when
he le®t us that he went into the hall, in the rear hall
and I remained hére with Glatt.

While you were sitting trere with Glatt and Wagner was
outside, ¢id you have any conversation with Glatt?

A. We did not, he did not speak any more.

Did yvou éee Wagner alter that, after he went out in the
hall® A. Five minutes later he came in again_and he
éat vith us énd he gavwe me that receipt. He first went
here tc the railing and handled s ome Paper as if he acted
sdnething with the paper, he handled some papcr in his
hands, playing with some Paper, he was doing something
with the paper.

Thexr: ‘'what did he do after tha+? A. Then he came back
and- sat by our side and we s= there for about a quarter
of an hour.

Did he say anything to'Wagner? A. Yes, he said then,

Yyour cosev, nea ing my own case, "will not be tried +o-

.day; it will be too late, the case that is on will not be

Tinished." Then we lef+ and went down stairs.
Now‘did Jou see your money bhefore you lelt? A. No siyp,
he gave me the receipt.

Did he say anything when he gave youw the receipt?

A. e said, "I gave the money to the Judge, and this is

the rcceipt Tfor it.n

2
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- By Co ‘%ns_el- Q. Was Glatt present? A. In the Presence of Gle+t

he said that, and he said, "when you get your child then

] vy

you get +he money back .v

By Mrd4 Davis. Q. Did Glatt say anything about thate A. ¥No,

o

Glatt did not say anything to that.

I8 this +the paper which Warner gave you tle re in the 1‘)rcs-.
ence of Glatt? (Showing the paper to witness.)

A. Yes sir, and Glatt read it to me and the otle r paper

was brought by Glatt and handed to me. There are two
Paypers.

We will confine ourselves to this paper. {I offer the pa=-

Per and the translation in evidence.) Vhen Wamer gave

you that Paper what did he say about it? A. He says,

"snow we are all right, we have +the roceipt. "

insel. Q. Glatt said tha+? A+ No, Wamer.

Davis. 0. A receipt for vwhat'¢ A. A receipt for th

money.

By the Court. Q. Did ho say so? A. Yes sir.

Counsel: We object to the introduction ol the raper..

Mr. Davis: Do vou object‘to tle document or to the translation®
Coﬁ.ﬁ el: We object to the document now in the hands of the Court,
‘We have no objection to that receipt going in, but we do
object to that dollar mark No. 182 up in the corner as
;E‘orniing; a paft- of the jmper as originally seen and read by

this witness. We might cross-examine her on that sub-

ject.

The Juz-t: I do not see the dollar mark, it is something 1like ite.

Counsgpl: We object unless the witness can identify that mark ag

being past of the paper.

ou vt ‘l‘hevDis_t'ri ¢t Attorney dces not want wha+ yo. call




dollar mark.

Counsgll: Then we have no objection to the paper going in.

The Cdurt: That is a perfect translati on:

Coungel: Yes sir.

The paper was marked Peoples' Exhibit A.
Mre Davisg read it as follows: " A receipt. I ceftify
72( 5/”/0’» o

herewith that Mrs. Greenwald of 526 East l4ath Strveet, one
TaN

hundred dollars for the delivery of her child stolen from

o

her by her husband two yeawrs znd a half;ZEgA;ided by a

Strange woman. Should this bhe no+ the case the deposited

money 18 to be returned. Mrs. Greenwald is pledged to pay

the aceuring exXpensesor permit the same +o be deducted

4
from the deposited rioney. J-B-Wa;ner-"

Davis. Q. Did you read the rcceeipt also?

Objected to.

e Court- Q. Ask her il she can read German? A. Yes sir.

urt: What difference does it make?

vis: I withdraw the question.

When you got that receipt what was done next? A. Then
we sat here for a quarter of an hour, ther he said, "your

case will not be tried to~day; then we went home, Wager

came with me to the car and Glatt remained behind I don't

know where; then Wagrner I saw went down +town.
"Did vou go home then? A. Then I went home.

This was what month? A- The end o! August.

Did you see Glatt again after +that? A. Yes sgiy, he came
again to my house.
Did rou see Wagner again after that? A. No more.

Never have seen him since? A. No sir.

¥hen Wagcner. gave you that receipt and before you went home,
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was anything said about when Youw should come down here

again? = A. He said, "I don'+t know .whern the case will

come befcore the Court.

. Court.Q. Who saide A. Vagner, and a few days later
then Glatt came to see me in my home and'brougﬁ£ me the
other.paper- He said tha+t he met Wagner here in the

Court and WVarner gave_him the paper in order that Glatt

should remit this I'aper to me. = So Glatt gave me the

raper.

Is that the paper Glatt gave you? (Paper shown.)

A; Yes sif, ne brought it to my house and he read i+t to
me .

Go on? A. And there it is written that the case nhas

been fixed for the 9th of Sertember to be tried.

el: I move that be stricken out.

vis: I have no objection; the paper will show Topr itself.
> Cours. Q. Did Glatt say anything else to her at that timeg?
He told me that he tried to seo my husband in the cell,
Glatt said that he himsel?® tried to see my husband in the
cell and Wagne. wo.ld not let hime.

Wher: did he say this¢ A . When he brough+ that second

paper he tcld me that.

Anything else? A. Nothing else.
And then he gave her ithe paper? A. Yes sir, he gave
me and he read ii to me.

Did you nave any conversation with him about its contents,
what i+ ébntaingd? A. Yes sir, we talked about it.

What did ne say . about it, this Defendant? A. I was very

,'gladj we vere talking about it and I said, "I am very

glad to get seven dollars a week from my husbandf I was

A i e e i




My .
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very happy.

' What ¢ id he say about it? A. He also was very checr-

ful; he said he would be very glad il I get my child baek,

and he said he will make a nice present to the child, he
was glad too. -
Ask her if he said r—uiything oy she said anything upon tho
subject ol what thevpaper contained? A. Yes, she
said something else. Glati said that Wagner said to him
that the vomarn is a very impudent woman.

Ask her if she recollects any thing else? A. No, we did
not tall much then.

vis: I offer the paper in evidence.

Counsil: No objection.

It was marked Peoples'Exhibit No. 2.

2l: VYou héve a translation pasted om top of the Germau doc-~
ument; the witness identifies the German praper as the
Peper declivered to her by Glatt. You will Ffind there is
something Irinted on the head of the German parer by hold-
ing it up to the light.

Pavis: No, there is nothing on the German paper.

Court: It is printed on the other paper; this is a2 pice of

raper with "Police Department” on it; it is not any parst

vor the document. The words "New Yoﬁk, 1833" mBave nothing
to do vwith i4; it was translated on a Police Departmont
heading.
el: O, very vwell.

Mr. Davis read the dpcument és follows: ‘“"Order.
Section No; I. Mrs. Grecnwald of 526 Fasi l4th Street is
ordered to appear September 9, lSQQ, rrecisely nine o 'eloek

beflfore the criminal Court.




,Secti’on 2. Mrs. Greenwald is ordered to make cormplaint

against her husband in order tc¢ compel him to pay her(ali:

" )
..mony) to thie amount of seven dollars per week.

Section 3 Mrs. Greenwald is entitled to prefer
charges of kidnapping, adultery and bigamy against the
woman who stole her child.”

The above paragraphs must be kept striclly private and
qonfidential by Mrs. Greenwald until the day o f «@# +trial.

Signed, J. B. Wapner.

"That is +he paper that Glatt pgave you? (Peojles' Tx-
hibit No. 2.) A. This ié the German one he gave me
When he gave you that paper what did he do afterwards?
It was fixed on the 9th, he was always a witness and it
was fixed Tor the 2th, that the case will be tried and a2t

the 9th he should come alonge.

Céurt- Q. What did ne do*% A. Then he left for home
and. a s;rxort, while before the day that the case vraé Tived to
be tried a short time before the 9th, then Glatt came =ud
told me that Wagner. told him that my husband is sick in

his cell and it will be adjourned again.

What else d:'_Ld he say? A. Then he‘ talked about his
ownibutsinessihithanche ogod a new place where‘ he works, a ver:y
fine place and he will proeure a situation Tor mysé&lf also;
he talked already to the superintendent about me, I will gZget
é good place and wages seven dollars a week and he will
"‘come with me to f:,he superintendent; he was speaking about
that.

| Well, now havg you. tbld us all that you recollect that he
said when he said thevcase wvould be postponed? . A+ As much

as I rerember I told all, I am suffering in my head.




Ask her if he said anything about what day it was posi-

poned to? ' A. No, he did not tell me. On the 9th
ot Sep‘bembe_r,between eleven and twelve o'clock abbut that
timé, he came to my house and he said that he received a
telégram from Wagner that the case'wiil be tried to-day
and I sho.ld make mysclf ready and Glati said tha+t he him-
selfl will go to ithe barbor alnd get shaved and he said tha+t
he will wait Tor me on the station of the elevated road on
l4th Sirert and will go with me to Court.

What avonae, ask iher? A. 1l4th Street and Fix'st; Avemnue,
and he said Wagner is waiting for us hereat thz court-

Well, go on? A At one o'eleock I was =t the station

of the slevated railroad and I waited there and nobody

came, he did not come; then I thought -- --

1‘: We object.

*« Davis, (\ Ask her vhat she did when she did not find him?
A. .I vaited there +ill two o'clock on the elvated sta-
‘tion and then I rode down hers to court all aleone; I
waited ouitside the restaurant where we used to meet for a
long time,. I wvaited outside the restaurant going up and

dovwre’

e Court. Q. What restaurant? A. Where he took the money
from me, just opposite he;-el on +tle cor.ne'r' of Center and
Chhamber S+treets. ‘

You waited outsil e? A. Yes sir, I went to and fro but
nobody camé; then I went here into Court; +then I ques-
tioned different persons here in this building if they can

tell me where I shall go with these papers and where that

case will be tried.




By Mrd Davis. Q. What papers? A. I showed them those papers.

Jounsgl: We objiect to any conversation that she had with pe rsons

Mr. Dgris: I do not want the conversation.

The Cgurt: She may testify that she showed the papers to differ-

ent per sons, she cannot testify to the conversation.
Counglel: We do not object to that.
Davis. Q- Do you mean the papers, Peoples' Txhibit I & 2

in German? A. Yes sir, those two paprprs I mean.

And afier doing that what did you do? A. The people
could not give me any satisfaction, they said they did no
know anything about it; +then I came dowvm out in the street

and I saw Warmer coming with bocks, he had bocoks under his

arm and he came out franm the Staats Zeitung. I do not
mean to say that I saw him come .'w'hen I was out in the
street, but I saw him before coming out of the Staatis Zéiz-
tung with books under his arm and that le:l me to the idea
t¢c g0 to the Staaits Zeitung and ask =2bout Wasner.

reter: She explains, I saw him with the books the day when
we v}ere' in court, I saw him coming out with the books.
Court. Q Was that the day she gave the : money? A. Yes
gsir, the day vhen I gave him the money he came out from

the Stasts Zietung with 1is books under his arme I am

not acquainted down tovnm, I do not know if it was the Staats

Zietuns or what building that was, I went over to that
building-. She- talked to scveral persons and they toléd
her somethinge. ‘

Coupstl: All this conversation tha.t tle lady testilies to having
taken place is in German and it may be understood by some

of the Jury and I object 4o it.
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Iourt: ‘She carmot testify to a2 convevrsation with other per-

sons, the Def‘endant not he ing presernte. Gentleren, yowu
are not to consider these conversations in evidence.

+ Davis. Q. What time was it that you lel+ the Staats Zie-
tung building ’obat day? A wvas afaout for o'elodk

near four o'clock.

Where did you go then? - A. Well, a gentleman in the

office brought me up on the top floor to a gentleman by

the name of Kuhme in the Staats Zei tung bL.lilding and I
went with Mr. Kuhne te Police Headguartewrs and then the
case was given to Mr. Hevidleberg-

And then did you &o home? A- Yes sir, tlen I wvent

home.

Was this on the ch' of Septerber? As A gentleman
from t1;1e Staats Zeitwung brought me to the car and 1 wont
home.

Was this +the 9th of Septenber? A. Yes sir, that wyas
onn the 94n of September.

Did you see Glatt after that? A. I forgot to tell you
wvhat haprened a short tire befores

Go on? A. About three days before that he came to

my nouse.
Court. Q. Who came? A. Glatt; he sai\a, "I an in
the same place and I have my waiter jacket in the pa\;a'zl
brokeré, he said he is head wvaiter, he showed me Pawn
tickets and said, "ean't you helyr me to some mcmey?. Sa -
urday I will get my wages and I will return tie money to
you." I pgave him five dollars.

What day of the week vas that? A. It was about on t'e

5th or 8+h of September, twe or three days before.




By the

Interp:
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Court. Q. What became of +the tickets? A« He only showed.

me the tickets, he kep+t the tickets; e only asked fér
morrey and I gave him FPive dollars and‘hé rromised tha+t
next Satnrday he will get his wages and fepay me the mcney.
Ther: he came the néxt day again; hevsaid, "both children
are sick and I’am in gbéab treuble-" He says, "I am a!l
confused", and ne waé shivering and restless; then I save

him énother dollar and I said, "what is the matter with

you, why are you so excited " He says, "I have taken s-ch
arn interest in;ydar affairs, it is toueching me so much."

I sazid, "what is that ﬁo you?" He says, "I Ffeel with you

also." That wasthe last time I saw him: then I was lock-

ing to find out where he lived.

eter: She said she went there, it was not the right direcc-

tion tha+t he gAave me, he did not live thore.

I move that be stricken out.

irt: Yes, I will s+trike that out, it may be a conclusiorn.
Davis. Q. CGo back a little bit, did Glatt give vou hisg ad-
dress? A. Yes sir, he gave me é written address.
Court. Q. What address did he give her? A. No.230

Fagt 19+h Street, he left me a paper,his address.

1sel. Q. Where is that paper now? A. I have not goi it

any more.

What has become of it9 A. Well, I looked for him, then
I threw the paper awvay because it had no value any more,

it was only a lit+tle riece of paper.

Dida you go'to the place? A. Yes\sir, I went.

Did7you inqﬁire after the Défendanﬁ? A. Yes sip, very
fine people live‘there. ‘

What kind of a house is it? A. A fine private howSc.




Many families in it? A. Two stdries high.

Of whom Adid you iz_mquire, man, woman or child®?

A. Dowm in the hasement, a lady I talked to there.

Did you find him there? A. No, never.

What date was it as néar as you can fix it that he came to
yvou é.nd Said he was in this nervo.s condition and  hov
sorry ‘he was Tor you because of the interes<t he fock in

youy: affairs? A. It was To. swrre the 8th or the 7th,

a few days before the case was Ffixed 4o be tried, a short
time before.
Davis. Q. And when was it that you went to this address

that he gave vou, to find him? A. When I came home

from Headquar+ters then I commenced to look for him. For
about three or four weeks I was 160kin{5 alter him and X
-eould not Find him.

Go .on? A. Then I received a méssage from Mr. Heidle-
berg to come to Headquarters; then he said ----

Court. Q. Who spoke, ask her if the Defendant was there?

re‘ter:_ I asked her if it was a message or if she saw Heidle

berg and told him.

Wi-bne?s: After I talked with him, after rece iving a message he

Q-
Qo

told me about somebody being i the Tombs.

She wen* to see Heidleberg? A. Yes sir.

~Was the Defendant there when she saw ileidleberg?

A. No sil"o

Davis. Q« When you saw Sergeant He idleberg what did you do -

s

next? A. He went to the Tombs, then they let me and

the officer into the Tombs.

Court. Q. Who went to the Tombs, she and Heidlcberg?

A. I wezﬁt alone_inf,o the.Tombs, Heidleberg went with me %o




By Mr.

By the

the Tombs but he did not go inside, he remaired outside
ivn the office, he did not come +0 the cells with me, he
remained in the office. Then I saw Glatt, and this is

the man.

v

Dar is. Q. Where was he? e+ In the Tombs, he was among

the prisoners.

How mary prisoners? A. Two or three dozen maybe y &

long line.

Céurt- Q. Wnat were they doing? A. They vwere Standing
there.

Davvis- Qe Then what c‘i‘idf your do? A. I picked ou: Gla;t-
Did Gla+tt do anything? . A. No, I only said, "this is
the man."

Court. ... What language did you speak in? A. In German,
I said, ."that is the man. "

When she said, "this is the man", did she do anything®?

No, I went back, I r-turned.

Did she stand there and look at all of +kem and say, "fr,his
is the mant" A« I went up and touched his hand and

said, "this is the man."




Davis. Q. What did he do? A. lle did not say anything,

he rubbed his hénds, tiiat Qras all he did.

Whea wvas this? A. Six weeks later, after the 9th.
. ~ .

Court. Q. That would he some +ime in October, ask her?

A. Yes sir, I caleulate it is about six wesoks later aften

the 9th.
_bavis; Q. Now yad ‘say vou locked for Gla.vtt before yon'saw
him irn thevTombs? ‘ A. Yes sir.

Where did you f£o to Jook fér him? A. I first locked
for the man who moved Claﬁ Y ouiof A'bhe h‘o{;.sé and I “ound -
the exyress-man, and the expressman told me that he is
6})1‘4051*&0 a factory.

Never mind what the expressman +told you, did yvou find out

fromn the expressman where he was? A. Yes sir, he told me
And did +the expressman direct yo.i toany” place? A. Yes

sir, he gave me a description of the place.

Did wou go theref? A. Yes. sir.

What kind of a place was it? A+ Those big new houses

there hetween Second and Third Avenue in 568+h Street.

Did you meke inquirics there for Glatt? A.- Yes sir, I

found out that he lived there and he left again.

And did you 'ind out where he went? A+. They could rmot

tell me but they t0ld me the expressman

Did you see t;he expressman? A. Yes sipr, I went to the
' eixpre.ssman .

bini he +4ell you any ‘place? A. Yes sir.

Did you go there? A aid not g myself, I sent

somebody to go there because I had work to do, and could

not go.

A e L AR A
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Interp

By the

Ql.

you goanywhere else to look Ffor him? A. No, I 4aia
do any more after this, I was locsing too much time
could not run around any longer.

you get your money back? A. No sir..

you get any of it backe A. No ', nothing at all yet,
Yyou get your child baek? = A. Nothing.

Have youseen her since vour hasband tock her away?

: backe

No sir, I have no means, I am poors

retepr: She said, I sacrificed my last %o get my child

Court. Q. Ask hey what she works at? A+ Housevork.

Ask her il her woxk is constant? A. Yes, this month I

scrubbing-

Ask her how mach she got per day? A. A dollar a day I

had work in Tatg%.ny Hall, I am working now, now I have

steady work in TanBny Héll,

Ask her if her work is steady if she works continuously?

I am engased by the month in Tammany Hall.

I do not mean now I mean in August last did she work steady,
I went out to wash and +o éérub.

When was it she got this permanent employmert she spgs.ks
of? i A. Last month.

Up to last month was it that she went out deing house\*{ork,

as she could get a job? A. Yes sir, every day, onc

day for one party and another day for another, washing md

Was ing and ironing? - A. O yes, plenty of days that I

had no work. Ny

was '‘paid.




CROSS | EXAMINED by Mr. Heimz elman.

Have you spoken to anvone about this case? A. I was

v

prohibited from talking about the case, they told me to

keep silent.

Mrs. Greenwald, have vou ever poken to anybody about this

case against Charles Glatt? A. Yes sir, I told my
acquaintances how it happened +o me .

Whom did‘ you speak tv about the case? A+ Where I woprk
Anyone else? A To +the man wilere Glasg:t lived, he came
to‘m:,'r house, I told him something about Glatt and I told v
affaix;s about Glatg.

Did you ever speak about th:“Ls case to Officer Heidleber;g?
A. Yes sir, sure. |

:Anyone e-_:lse? ‘A. He idle};»erg was cla rged in‘Headquartm's

with the case, the case was left with him.

Did‘you speak to anyons else about the case? A. I do
not know anything else.

Sirce the 9th ol September bwho have you spioken to about
this casé?

e Court. Q- Anybody else t-hat you recollect than Heidleberg

and the man in the house? A. Nobody else that I can

lJz-ecoI!.lec‘f.. Sineé& Heidleberg took +the case into his care I

|

{used to attend to nmy work, I did not do anything more in

the case. -

u

1sel. Q. H‘a‘v.e you gone arny place at the requeét of Heidle~
bér{; and, spoken about this case?  A. No sir.

Now are you sure? A. I am not aware of any such th ing;
as. soor: as the authorities took the casc in hand I did not

do anything more in the case, I went after my worke.

e




Is your memory on theat subject as clear as on everything

elsec that you have testified to here? A- I cannot tell
ar; ything moees I attenddd +o my business since I leftnig
with the police to do what is to be done .

Have you spoken to this gentleman here abowt tle case-.

(Mr. Davis.) As Yes sir.

Have yoi: spoken to a1 ybody else about the case in any

couzt-rocm or to amy jury? A. Yes sir, before the Jury

I t0ld the case before the jury.
Now anybhody elseo A. The inspector, I told Inspec-
tor Byrmes, I do not know the inspector's name.

Mrs. Greenwald, you have spoken to Insjector Byrnes, Me.
Heidleberg and Mr. Davis about this ecase and vou have told
the érand Jury about it 400, is not that 8092

A. Yes sir, I know what the Crand Jury is.

Those were the peoplemyou spoke to? A. That is what I
can remorber at present; I am suffering very maeh in my
head.

I will make it as short as poss ib}.e -- wha+ did you first
meet Mr. Glatt? A+ In June oy July, I cannot tell
exactlyre.

I:.x the month ol June you moved ou+ of the house, didn't
you? A No1". I.

Where vwere you living in‘th.e month of June last? A. In’
14th Street.

What number? A. No. 526 East l4th Street.

And where did Mr. Glatt live at that time?  A. No. 612

East 13th Street where I lived before, he mowd in the same

house where I moved oute

it ot

e




When did you move out of 612 Fast 13th ©t.9? A. In March

I think, I think Mareh or April, I

cammot recollect ver y
well.
Was Glatt living in that house at that tme? A. No sirm,

Do you know when Glatt moved into that house? A. Mgy be

a month later aftor I moved out, I am not very sire about

the dates

You moved out of 612 Tast 13th Sitireet to 526 Fast l4th St.-

¥es sir..

About a month later Glatt moved into the house 612 Fas+t

13th Street, is that correct? A. About a month, I do

not know exactly.

i

How did ycu become acquainted with Mr. Glatt? AL I leiv

a stove’ _n tl® rooms 4‘1“3 re and I went there to et my stove.

And +ha.* is the way ycu became acquainted with Mr. Glatt?

Then we commenced o visit each other, his wife came to

see me and then he came +to see me and so we £0t acquainted.

Then I lost akey also whils+t I lived tiere and he came amd

he t¢ld me about +the key that they found and so we Lot

acquainted --- it was by the stove and the key we got ace

quainted.

He has got a wifs and two children, that is right?

A. VYes sir.

You have living with you three children, is that right?
A. Yes sip,

Now do you know what his business was at that time?

A. I heard that he was a vra1+er.

tt.=rte:r'. Shall I tell that, what ste heard Trom another

son?

NPT
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: L : : .
Counsel it o in.

Witnest Aftervard I learned [rcm a man with whom he lived that
he did not have any work, thatlpe did not work.

He was a2 waiter by trade? A. I heard as much, that

" his business was a waiter.
Now tha* was +ke only business you ever heard him have?
A. No sir.

Court. Q. You may ask her whether she would prefer to fin-

ish the oxamination this afternoon or rathey wait and come

here Monday morm ing? A. I cammot come Monday, I hawe

to atiend to my work Monday.

Counsel: It will take me more than a hour, your Honor.

In‘tex‘-preter: >She says, "I must endure i%, ‘I told her it would

last an hour; she says she cannot leave the wvork, she
mast be tle re.

Court. Q. Ask her how muci she gets? A. I am paid by

the monthy I have to work Sundays and weck days, every day.
What time dées_ éhe 50 to work tlere? A. Half past sewven,
In the moraing< A. Yes sir and I remain the whole day
thers.

urt: She will have w0 com Monday.:

reter: She says she is willing to stand it if it could bhe

Finisle & to-day. If it will e finisle d in an hour all

A right, go anead..

By‘ Comn'sel. Q. Now Mrs. Greezﬁrald, it was in the middle of Junc
that you lCirst became acquainted with Mr. Glatt, wasn't it¢
;A- Yes sir, in tke summer months‘-‘ |
And it was about the middlée of Augustf that Glatt first
s;ooke tc you about your troubles with your husband?

As Yes sir.




Q. | Now from thé middle of June tc the middle of August how

i often did Mr. Glatt call at your housc? A. About two
|

[ times, once his wife was there and he came after his wife.
ﬁDuring that same period of time how often did you call at

ﬁhis house? - A. Once I was in his house, he was not

It
i:

home, I saw only his wife.
I
{And vhen aid you tell M. Glatt about your bank book for

the flrst time? A. I did not speak with him about thu

jbank book.
fNow Mrs. Greenwald, did you show your bank book to My .

fGlatt? A. Yes, when he went with me to the Court.

fWhen was that, the 9th of September, when did you first

ishow-Glat* your bank book? A. It was on the end of August,
So that you had seen Glatt and Wagner before you ever told

them you had a bank book¢? A. Yes sir, I saw Wagner al-

i
i
1
t

iWhen was it that 6latt was in your'house and Wagner came

1
Lln about an hour after, , that was the irst visit, the
}

! oceasion when Glait was in your house about six o'clock

| and  Wagner came there about seven, when was that?

i
i
i

; A. It was on a Wednesday, I just camne home fron washing,

i1t was also the end of August.

1
H

ﬁWas Glatt there when Wagner asked you about your troubles
>71th your husband, the very flrst time she had a2 talk withnh

Wagner? . A. Glatt was gone already.

’{When did Mr Glatt come +Ho your house the next +time?
1
i
I

A. The next day.
A. Yes sir.
Had you seen any of his family in the meantime?

-y

sir, his wife was in my house with the children.




:i
I
i
o
!
i

+Did you have any talk about your trouble? A. Yes sir,

we talked, I showed hewr the photograph of my c¢hild and so

' we talked about thosc affairs.

i
it

{

g;Now then the second time tht Glatt called on you or the

fffirsf time after Wagner had called on you, 1s that the time

H
1
i
i

thau you asked Glatt how it was that WVagner knew all about

Your private affairs? A. Yes sir, I asked Glatt how

fglt is that Wagner knows all my affairs.

Qe

' And what did Glatt say? A. I asked him if he sent this

man to me.

! What was the answen? A. No sir.

He said no, he did not send the man? A. Ho, he told me

. tan instance of a woman =—-—-—-

i

:How long after that day did you see Glatt and Wagner to-

#gether in your house? A« About a week later.

Dld you ask Glatt at that time in the bPresence of Wagner

how it was that Wagner knew =211 about your troubles?

ﬁ
H

i ]

i
i

A. No sir.

Then you only asked ¥Mr. Glati that question onone occasion?

A. Yes sir.

fWell, didn't it seem qQueer to you after Glatt having denled

he told Wagner, yes or no? A. Yes, it looked s0.

Why did not you ask Glatt in the presence of Lr Wagne r?
A. Well, he said Wagner recommended me that I should not
say a word to anybody, keep 1t as a secret.

|Was Glatt there at the time? A. No, that was the first

itime when Wagner came he told me that I should keep silent.

fBut you disobeyed that order, didn't you? A. I did net

|

i
i

1 obey him?

When Wagner told you not to say anything about -tnis, aboui




ydar trouble, did you obey that instruction? A. I was

ﬁvery cheerful that I will get my child back and I told my

ineighbors.
ﬁAll your neighbors knew of your trouble, aidn't they?

i
ﬁ A. No sir, only one woman where Wagner went and asked ref-

i
ierence about ne.
i

I . :
jHMow tell us, give us the reason why you did not ask Mr.

ﬁGlatt in the presence of Wagner how i:i was that Wagner knel

i .
tabout your troubles? A. Out of gladness I did not think

i . ,

cabout it, I did not reflect so much about it, I was out of
%myself for gladness.

The Coﬁrt: Mr. Heinzelman, in consequence of a suggestion the

istrict Attorney just made to me, I am satisfied that this

gcase could not bProperly go on.without having this woman

I
Qpresent on Monday. It looks to me as if it would not be

&safe t0o go on with the other branches of this case with
?the other witnesses and not have this complainant present.
ﬁ My experience is as a case goes along they eall them back

fand recall them back again and maybe they will want them

! three or four times. This woman will have to come, it
i . -

'imay be hard for her, I will take care she wont lose any-

| thing. Mr. Interpreter, you tell the woman that she has

i
!
)

it
!
|

got to be here on Monday and her compensation will be taken
care of. If the District Aﬁtorney has not funds to pay
it, I have, we will see that she gets her money.

Mondy , December 8, 1890.
EMELIA GREENWALD recalled by Counsel.
Piease tell us where you were at the time you paid the

hundred dollars? A. I came to the restaurant with

Mr. Glatt with the money, I paid it to Mr.Wagner in a




By the

regtaurant.

ﬁYou and Mr. Glatt came from the Bank to the restaurant, is

i that correct? A. Yes sir.
i L.

gAnd there you Ffound Mr. Wagner? A. Wagner was not

i ' r :
ﬁthere Yet but we waited there 1411 he came. .
i :

ﬁIn the restaurant corner of Chiamber Street and Park Rowe?
il

ﬁ A« In the big restawramt in the basement.

i .
i Now Aid Wagner tell you what he wanw.ed wvhau money four?
il .

i A. To deposit, so that I would getv mYy child, t¢ show vhasv

4

QI ¥as responsible 10 take care of my child.

:Did he tell you where he wa ved %o deposiv the money?
y

A. Por vhe Judge or with the Judge.

ﬁDid he tell you that he wanied to deposit the money with
&%he Judge or with the Cours?? A. He said the Judge wm t»
|
i ed that money and the Judge had spoken already with my
i

! child. This is what Mr. Glatt said to me.

bourt. Q. Glatt told her this? A. Glatt to0ld her that.

i .
By Counsel. . Glatt told what? A. That the Judge had spoken

f

# with the child.

i
xDid you believe what he said? A. I believed it all.
I

QAnd because you believed ii you gave him the money, didn't

i

;fyou?
ﬂ

A. Because he told me he was an official I be~
lieved him.

Now you gave him the money because he told you he was an
offieial of the Court, is that correct? A. Yes sir.
Did he (Wagner) give you a rgéeipt for the money at the

' time you gave him the money? A. No, he gave the money up

in court, then he came down and gave me the receipi in the

Presence of Glatt.

i




Did you read ite A. Yes siv.
| After you read it did you say anything about 1t?
A, No; I did not say anyshing.

g Did you at any time stiatie ih‘Courc or.any'other pPlace that

f Wagner said he was a iawyer? A. Yes, I said that to

i my acguaintance whom I +told the matter to;

i Dia you not testify 1o that at the last trial that Wagner
said he was a lawyer? A: Yes sir, he told me that he
wag an official and I believed it and I took him as such.
Well now, did he tell you that e was a lawyer, ask hexr
yes or no? A. NO.

Diga ydu testify in Court at Part II. that he was a lawyer?
A. An official I said,

Did you say on the witness stand in Part II that he was a
lgwyer, that he told you he was a lawyer? A. No, I didnot%
Now your read this receipti you told wus? A. Yes sir.

And was it satisfactory to you at that -time? A Yes; be-
cause he told me I would get my child o get my money back.

Did you ask for any further receipt or paper after the hun-
dred dollars
Court. Q. She said he, who told her that?  A. Wagner,

they both were united, they both t0ld me soO.

Who said it? A. Wagner and Glatt said iv,both said so,

Glatt told me .thar this man Wagner is the Chief MMarsk 11

of the Generai Couxrt.

1sé1- Q. Now q}d he say the wa ds Head iarshall o you?
A. Glatt said so.

Why did not you tell us thac when the District Atto.ney

examined you? A. I think I did say so.

You believea thay youws hundred dollars was going to be

AT 5 AL i e i D e e e




deposited with the Judge, is not that frue? A. Yes sir.

Qe éThen when you got the receipt here why did not you ask

lthat that be put in the receip:? A. I did not under-

jstand that so much because I thought the man was homnest

! ' . ,
jand upright and I was satisfied, I did not consider that =
] :

h, I was only thinking of my child, I did not consider

ﬁthat so very muche.
|
JWhen you complained to Mr. Glatt about Wagner telling you

ﬁall your affairs, please tell us exactly what he said to

ayou, what Glatt sda d2 A. He told me an example of a
woman which k& knew which had the same case or a similar

jease which had deposited the money and she got her child

i
Kl
i
!
i
i
!
i
"
il

iand her money back again.

ﬁIsn't it a fact that you paid Wagner a Iundred dollars For

i :

Shis work in gettihg back your child? paid him ithe hundred
4

?dollars for the purpose of geitiing your child baek?

A. Noi for his work, onlv wo deposii the money wo show

i that I have some means %o take cavs of my chzld.

1

i Now how much money did you give Glats? A. Six dollars
| |

;I gave to Glatt afier I had paid a h.ndred dollars, I gave

lGlats six dollars.
1
| And how long after you paid the hundred dollars? A. A few
i . .

|
i days latere.

i
le’LI_"u o Qe

If I understand at different times, Ffive dollars
at one time and one dollar at another, is that correct?

A. Tes sir, that is right.
| .

‘fAsk her what sl gave that money to Glatt for? A. He eme
t0 me, he showed me some pawn tickets and told me he has
got his white waiter jacket in pawn and asked me if I ecould
j not help him, he would get his pay on Saturday and would
like t0 have his things out. This was a few days after I
‘gave him the lmindred dollars. :

i
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@onxt of Qﬁzmml Sessions of the Bearce

Or tHE City axp CounTy oF Ntw Yogxrkx.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK,
AGAINST

%&‘\A 2. 'X“'“ <~
of the OriME OF....W...LARCEN PN S

committed as follows :

The 52id S s Do 2\&%

.

County of New Yorlk aforesaid, on the*...w._ ..... -
in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

e, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

late of the City of New York, in the
day of..==~= é\.. b N V.
. '\

with intent to

s o o

e 1K - N S LN S . N e

B D — i BT A L N VY - P S < oS o
Y 5

f The pro

S < SN 2
(o) Per moneys, goods ¢ o

hattels and personal prof)erty hereinafter mentioned, and of

the use and benefit thereof, and to appropriate the same to.@.:s;&k._..own use, did then and
there feloniously,

frandulently and falsely pretend and represent to.. ohen.
LN, - U

.......... PV AT
nqntoo *ﬁﬁA'_




N

And the s2id. S oQ“AA m&‘.g S N
. 4 W

then and “heir.believing the said false and fraudulent pretenses and representations so made

and being deceived thereby, was mduced, by reason of the false and fraudulent pretenses and

representations so made ds aforesaid, to deliver,-and did then and there deliver to the said

Qk P, Y %\‘\—)d(' O _L l\g\g. \bmn&‘o’\,, &._M‘ ——

of the proper moneys, goods chattels and personal property of the said... ..o,

And the s2id R oD o DX . !\g.w_’\pb

did then and there felomously receive and obtain the said proper moneys, goods, chattels, and

by color and by aid of the false and fraudulent pretenses and representations aforesaid, with
‘intent to deprive and defraud the said WW
of the same, and of the '.;..ls'e“a-nd benefit thereof, and to appropriate the same tRaimrr own use
@ hexeas, in trath and in fact, the said R Do Fna XK. .. 2_a_
- /\fsx ...... &MM“%,M&N:&.‘M

s e S o B —e AL




gﬁﬂ ‘ﬁ[ﬁﬁxzmas, in truth and in fact, the pretenses and representations so made

as aforesaid by the saidSRR e oo S _aSK MM ST

to the said.. €3 N Qx& WO e s N verrsevserrroeseerrei SR was and were

then and there in all respects utterly false and untrue, as

B o — T Y o . PPN

at the time of making the same then and there well knew

And su the Grand Anxy ALovesaid, dosay that the saia

=N
in the manner and form aforesaid, by the means aforesaid, the said broper moneys, goods,

chattels and personal property of the said€

then and there feloniously did sTEAL, against the form of the Statute in such case made and

provided, and against the peace and dignity of the said people..

JOHN R. FELLOWS,
Distriet Attorngy.
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. COURT OF:GENERAL SESSIONS OF THE PEACE, OF THE CITY AND COUNTY
'OF NEW YORK.

Tk PEOPLYE: OF THE STATE oF NEW YoRK,

against .
Q Q-Q&-n.’._, \Mn_. ~aS 5 &S

‘

THE GRAND JURY OF THE CITY ANDI COUNTY OF NEW YORK, by
this indictment, accuse SR eoDern B adX. ol § ;
-\h“w PRt mnoS e Ne— X S, PV ﬁ

- W W m&(\,\m-‘
of the CrRIME oF GRAND LARCENY IN THE rasca2_. DEGREE,

- committed as follows:

The said

late of the City of New York, in the County of N ew Youk aforesaid, on the X

day of NM .in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

M&_\é * 7 = ; a6 the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, in the
‘Wtime ‘of the same day, divers DPromissory notes for the payment of money, being
- then and there due and unsatisfied (and of the kind known as United States Treasury
Notes), of a number and denomination to the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, for the

payment of and of the value of —o-n_ S NN (P

dollars ; divers other promissory notes for the payment of money, being then and there due
and unsatisfied (and of the kind known as Bank Notes), of a number and denomination
to-tHe Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, for the payment of and of the value of

" dollars ; divef? United States Silver Certificates of a number and denpmination to the Grand
- Jury aforesaid unknown, of the value of et e W a G S o

Tw

dollars ; divers United States Gold Certificates of a mumber and denomination to the
Grand Jury aforesaid. unknown, .of the value of o—=n_ N—— D Sy T

dollars ; divers

.'

.of the goods, chattels and personal property of one M
’ %M S . b S C—— then and there being found,

' then and there feloniously did steal, take and carry away, against the form of the ,
Statute in such case made and provided, and against ‘the peace of the People of the State
of New York and their dignity.

JOHN R. FELLOWS, District Attorney.
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FOLDER:
3850

DESCRIPTION:

Gleason, William

DATE:

11/09/90
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Police Cou_rt "Distx-ict ' Affidavit—Larceny.

Gity and Gounty W)... 7
oF Pow Pk, o W/// %&/
of SHo :j’_‘ Z HSlreet, aged..

ocoupation (—’/\—%o /// berng duly sworn,

at the Bity of Hew York,

L]

wn the %’auniy of Hew Gork, was Jelondously z‘ahn, stolen, and carried away ﬁ:m the pessessicn of deponent, in

1&97 tme, the following praperty, VT |

e

‘the property of. /’V{/Z/

-

and that this deponent

ﬁas @ probable W&t and a’oes suspect, t/mt the s ZEoperty was jfeloniowsly taﬁ%

aamea? awa / &y,




W 240429 UIYBT;

o

District Police Court.

Sec. 198—200.

CITY AND”COUNTY
[0 RE™

~ ’ e ZZ2 A eing duly examined before the under-
signed according to law, e annexed charge ; and being informed that it is &k right to
make a statement 111%0 the charge against h “al s that the statement 15-? signed to
enable 1 if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h 4—
that he “is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h 4 waiver cannot be used

against h y on the trial.

Question. _What is youru

Answer.

Question. How old are you ¢

Answer.

Question. Where were you born 7

Answe'r

Question VVhele do you 11ve. and héw lonfr have you resided there ?

N N N

Question. Wha,t is your iness or plofesswn ?

Answer.

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the

testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will fend fo your
exculpation '2
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It appearing to me by the willvin depositions and statements that ihe crizne therein mentioned has beer

B
comimitied, and tlhat there is sufficient cause to belicve the within nanved

Y RN

vereef, I ordcr that The De hz/dto answer (e same and i be admitted /o bail in the sunw of
to the TWarden and Keeprr of

and be commit

S dHundred Dollars,

Live su

Police Justice,

the City Prisa City of New Yorl,until  Te
d Z
P
Dated 18

I Ivvve admii ted 1he above-naned,

to bail 1o answer by (he wndertaking hereto annexed.

Police Justice.

8

Dated.

There being no sufficient cawse to lelieve the within nomed
Luilty of the offence within mentioned. I order

I tobe discharged.

Po’ice Ju. tice.

Datrel

%




@omrt of General Sessions of the Beace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tnr PEOPLE OF THE SrATE OF NEW YoRE,

against

2

The Grand Jury of the Ci% Cpunty of New York, by this indictment,

‘L et —

accuse

of the Cruz or GRAND LARCENY IN THEW DEGREE, committed

as follows :

‘ —

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the

day of in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

%o%/w

e

(thefgoods, chattels and personal property of OHW W

then and there being found, then and there feloniously did steal, take and carry away,

against the form of the statute in such case made and ovided, and against the beace of
.:fghg‘ ?e_op]e\ of the State of New York, and their digni @)




SECOND COUNT—

- AND THE GRAND JURY AYORESAID, by this indictment, further accuse the said

of the CrRIME oF CRIMINALLY RECEIVING STOLEN PROPERTY committed as follows :

The said

e lat'e_‘of the City and Coimty aforesaid, afterwards to wit: on the day and in the year
aforesaid, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

of the goods, chattels and personal property of one

by a certain person or personms to the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, then lately before
- -feloniously stolen, taken and carried away from the said

unlawfully and unjustly, did feloniously receive and have; the said

then and there well knowing the said goods, chattels and personal property to have been
feloniously stolen, taken and carried away, against the form of the statute in such case made
and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

JOHN R. FELLOWS,

District Attorney.
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DATE:
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[Sections 523, 53]] ——  Peual Code},

District Altorney.
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Police Court— % District. Affidavit—Larceny.

@ity and Connty s
of Peto Pork, |

Z .5

Street, aged.... =l years,

occupaiion being duly sworn

deposes and says, that on the // aay of. % W'/ : %xt the City of New

York, in the County o_df‘}few York. was feloniously taken, stolen and carried away from the possession

of . 6267726, in tke.............?.....time the following property 'v‘iz ;

Crrdl. Azedl ZWM Preezecy ¢/ Fo>
%4&% Sz // e rreceiat /;/
dﬂmé” Geizee a/m,/émd 2 éé%
Clrl 4//%%/ ale //%ZZ Zrzzozezr I
Gnat Fatue of %M %—m s /4/}//”’
theroperty of- /(/Mm —

. and that this deponent
&‘ has a probable cause to su Sp , and does éusg%t e said propert./ 'wasjclomously taken, stolen,
R

V4

WS and carried away by
1;/74/0 /y%mm/g 4/;&/% %/ Lozt S ZZ;;Z

224 m /m&é AT rer/ Y P2 /%Za /Maé
(lraf feecl Reek oo 2o éwehy _______
2. A P2 el m /maé ém

- daca W 7 ron MWW m@a ,zé/ __

W@céé %MW s
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.

CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK,

.. Stregt, being duly sworn. deposes and

says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit of M /é

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponents’ own

knowledge.

day of AL LETTZT 1

LJ

B
(XN}
0

<y




UL 2.0043Q Uy

%’/District Police Court.

Sec.- 198—200.

CITY AND
OF N

/W %%W_ being duly examined before the under-

Ce . Z - . s ip s .
* signed according to law, on %the anifexed charge; and being informed that it is = right to

malke a statement in relation to the charge against h \ ; that the statement is designed to
enable h \ if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h x
that he is at liberty to waive maling a statement, and that h % _ Wwaiver cannot be use

against h ™ — on the trial.

Questionyrour name ?
Answer, %ﬂ

Question.  How old are you ?

Answer, / %_W

Question. Where were you born 7

Answer. %W EZaes
Z= = Lo e

Question. Where do you live, and how long have you resided there ?

e T T Fmrn g e

Question. What is your business or profession 7

Answer. %e /W -

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the

testimony against you, and state any faets which you think will fend o your
exculpation ?

Answer.
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It appearing to me by the within depositions and statements that the crinpotherein mentioned has been

e

committed, and that there is sufficient cause to believe the within named,

Luilty thereof, I order that he  be held to answer the same and  he  be admiitted {0 bail in the sum of

U dred Dollars, and be committed to the Warden and Keeper of

s of the Cityof New York, uniil he  give such bail. -
7 4 2

I have admiilted the above-named,

to bail to answer by the undertaicing hereto annexed.

18 Police Justice.

Dated.

There being no sufficiens cause to believe the within named,

Suilty of the offence within mentioned. I order h  tobe discharged.

Police Justice.

Dated




COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS OF THE PEACE, OF THE CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK.

Tie PropLk oF THE STATE or Nrw YoRE,

against

| U

THE GRAND JURY OF T CITY AND COUN, F NEW YORK, by
this indictment, accuse W

of the CrrMr oF GRAND LARCENY IN THE DEGREE,

9

itted as follows:
ey %ﬂ/b <

lIate of ¢he City of New York, in the County of Nefw York aforesaid, on the
day of/ in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

w » at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, in the
Céw time'of the same day, divers promissdry notes for the payment of money, being
then and there due and unsasisfied (and of the kind known as United States Treasury
Notes), of a number and denominati n to the Grand Jury aforesaid \unknown, for the

7 7/7 Qpayment of and of the value of ~ Pl zie

dollars ; divers other Ppromissory notes for the paymert of money, being then and there due

and unsatisfied (and of the kind known as Bank Notes), of a number and denomination
to the Grand Jury aforesdi unknown, for the payment of and of the value of

—_— ———

dollars ; divers Unitsd States Silver Certificates of a number and denomination to the Grand
Jury aforesaid unknown, of the value of e e

dollars; divers United States Gold Certificates of number and denomination to the
Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, of the value of M

dollars ; divers coins of a number, kind and denomination to the Grand J ury aforesaid

unknown, of the value of

of the goods, chattels and Ppersonal property of one
e hen and there being found,

“then and there feloniously did steal, take and carry away, against the form of the

Statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State

of New York and their dignity.

JOHN R. FELLOWS, District Attorney.
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DESCRIPTION:

Goldstein, Herman

DATE:

11/19/90

i




Witresses; - : ' _ : Counsel,
Filed
Pleads,

THE PEOPLE

vSs.

Grand Larceny Jw

[Sections 528, 534 ~, Penal Code].

JOHN R. FELLOWS,
District Attorney.
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RO , e YRRt _ .
Police Court—... : JeJDistrict. . Affidavit—Larceny.

dity b @onntp } :
of Betw Pork, (* / O ‘/ér |
oFr Vo. / ﬁ— d/ﬁ . Strect, aged..........?::.gryeam,

occupation. %“—’/&/ /\-1—7 /M,—/ being duly sworn

'744/, 7~ L/ ;
deposes and says, that on the e day of cat the City of New

YOT](.‘; in the County of New Ifrk, was Jeloniously taken, stolen and carried awayfrdm the possession

of dez_}o 8, i th time, the fpllowing property, viz: .

J

Cia.,VL__

/’”‘WJ"“‘/‘;/Z’Z/ /W oot e

and that this deponent

taken, stolen,




240499 usyny

Sec. Sec. 198—200.. Distriet Police Court.

CITY AND- COUNTY
OF NEW YORK, W .
/%w/\/ bemcr duly examined  before the under-

signed aco( rding to la,w on the annexed charge ; and being - informed that it is h right to
make a statement in relation to the cha rge a,fra,mst h e that the statement is designed to

enable I >~ if he see fit to answer the ch‘uge and explain the facts alleged against h~e—

that he is at liberty to waive making a stutement and that h -—6 waiver cannot ‘be used

against h Y~ on the trial.

Question. What is your name ?

Answer.

Question. How old are you ?

Ané;'wer. - / ,7/ e e

Y'Que.'s:tz'on. ‘Where were you/born "/

Answer. /

© Question. Where do you live, and how long hgye you resided there ?

A Lot

Question. at is your busmess or profession ?

Question. Give any explanation yon may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the

testimony. against you, and state any ifacts which you think will tend to your
exculpation ?
7.
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It appearing to me by the within depositions and staterments that them

committed, and that there is sufficient cawse to belicve the within named /

vereof, I order that he  be held to answer the same and ~ he  be admitted 1o bail in the sum of
~ : R

2 r-) Hundred Dollars, and be committed to the Warden and Keeper of

)~

the City Prispn, of the City of New York, until  he (‘g‘iva swch bail.

.. Dated V‘)/ L7 s 7 e S %@41 Polic) Justice.

I have admilted the above-named

n
to bail to answer by the witdertalking hereto anneved.

Police Justice.

Dated 8

N,

) .' . .
There being no sufficient gause to believe the within nomed

R

A& Suilty of the offence within mentioned. I order h to be discharg&d.

Police Justice.

Dated,




Comrt of Genernl Sessions of the Rearce

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tue PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YORK,

against

The Grand Jury of the City and, County of New York, by this indictment,

accuse

of the CriMeE oF GRAND LARCENY IN THE DEGREE, committed
as follows :
The sald% %«/

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the\/ 2
‘day of in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

Cocea ey o e

of the goods, chattels and personal property of on

" then and there being found, then and -there feloniously did steal, take and carry away,
agamst the form of’ the statute in such case )n ade and provided, and against the peace of




SECOND COUNT—

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuse the said

of the CRiME oF CRIMINALLY RECEIVING STOLEN PROPERTY committed as follows:

The said

la.té of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards to wit: on the day and in the year
aforesaid, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

of the goods, chattels and personal property of one

by a certain persoﬁ or persons to the Grand Jﬁry afbreéaid unknown, then lately before
feloniously stolen, taken and carried away from the said

unlawfully and unjustly, did feloniously receive and have; the said

then and there well knowing the said goods, cha‘tttels and personal property to have been
feloniously stolen, taken and carried away, against the form of the statute in such case made
and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

JOHN R. FELLOWS,
: Distriet Attorney.
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FOLDER:
3850

DESCRIPTION:

Goldstein, Samuel

DATE:

11/17/90

I




MW¥itnesses;

=

Counscl,

Filed

Grand La,rcény, kf(/vrz%l)egrce.
-Penal Code].

[Sections 528, 5%/

JOIN R. FELLOWS,:

4
'
4

DistricteAliorney.

A Trues, Bill.

e




Police Court— Dihistrict. Afidavit—Lareceny.

@ity a@ @nmtm} % ?W 2z 2,

of Retv Pork,

bf IVo.. ,7 ) M / 2"/ =77 ‘ S’treet aged...z.fﬁ .......... years,
oceupation .,l/ W : being duly sworn

deposes and says, that on the 6 day of ,M\ ‘ : 18%75 the City'of New

min the County of New as feloniously taken, stolen and carried away from the possession

of deponent, in the. T time, the following property, viz :
L i

~.: the property of. W
<

and that this deponent

1y has a probable cause to ispj and does suspect, ﬂz@&d propenfy was feloniously taken, stolen,

%Zu,znfw&«l(dw
mméfﬂ@%\%’/
WWW Verf oZ Lool
%Wﬂwo&u/m o, FZ
O e B s e W«»«%
Lirzen, Frole ’

I







CITY AND COUNTY ]
OF NEW YORK, 88

Street, being duly sworn deposes and

says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit of % .

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponents’ own

knowledge.




" Sec. 198—200. . Co : . Dlstuct Police Lourt

LEY AND COUNTY}SS
—— ¢

(e being duly examined before the under-

signed according to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is h \right to

make a statement in relation to the charge against h { ;that the statement is designed to

enable h ( if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h ~__

that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h N\__ waiver cannot be used

against h «__ On the trial,

Question.  What ds your name ?

Answer. %M/ -z %

Question. How old are you ?

Answer. OZ @ﬁ%/ el

Question. "Where werg you born?

7

4 r
Answer. A=y Z T

Question. Where do you live, and how lono' h'we you resided there ?

Answer. / /,g ‘7 % leez /\%

Question. What is your business or profession ?

Anwer: /-‘/My// ez =

Question. Five any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
; testimony against you, and state any facls which you think will tend to your

exculpation ?

Answer.

/ %m///z /ﬁ/ %ﬁm
i
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1t appearing to me by the within depositions and statements that the crime therein mentioned has been

committed, and that there is sufficient cause to believe the within named

?M

guilty thereof, I order that he be held to answer the same and he be admitted to bail in the sum of

/ Hundred Dollars, and be committed to the Warden and Keeper of

7

the City Prison, of the City of New York, until he give such bail.
; -

o PPoliCE JUStice.

Dated.

I have admitied the above-named.

to bail to answer by the undertaking hereto annezed.

Police Justice.

Dated 188

There being no sufficient cause to belicve the within named.

guilty of the offence within mentioned, I order % Yo be discharged.

Police Justice.




COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS OF THE PEACE, OF THE CITY AND CUUNTY
OF NEW YORK.

Tur PEoPLE OF THE STATE or Nrw York,

against

THE GRAND JURY OF TH TY AND COUNT F NEW YORKH by
this indictment, accuse W

ME OF GRAND LARCENY IN THE W DEGREE,
commijfted as follows: m
The said W

late of the City of New York, in' the County of New York aforesmd,ﬁthw
day of %@W the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and
M » at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, in the :

) time of #le same day, divers promissory notes for the payment of money,:- being

thet and there due and unsatisfied (and of the kind known as United States Treasury

” - Notes), of a wumber and denominations to the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, for the
__-,//\”—_a"pﬂyment of and of the value. OW

dollars ; divers other Ppromissory notes for the payment of money, being then and there due

and unsatisfied (and of the kind known as Bank Notes), of a number and denomination

to the Grand Jury aforesaj unknown, for the payment of and of the value of
———

dollars ; divers United States Silver Certificates of a pfimber and denomination to the Grand
Jury aforesaid unknown, of the value of \/@&%/‘{ﬂ/k,

dollars ; divers United States Gold Cerbificates of a npfaber and denomination to the
Grand J ury aforesaid unknown, of the value of

kind and denomination to the Grand J ury aforesaid

dollars ; divers coins of a number,
unknown, of the value of

of the goods, chattels and persQnal property of one%\\%m
02, % %zmm %W % %V,u then and there being found,
en and there feloniously did s fal, take and carry away, -against the form of the

Statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State
of New York and their dignity.

JOHN R. FELLOWS, District Attorne /.
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FOLDER:
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DESCRIPTION:
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DATE:
11/25/90
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417

FOLDER:
3850

DESCRIPTION:

Gong, Baruch

DATE:

11/25/90

i




Witnesses : Counsz .
oo . > Filed &< .
Y /;, o
Pleads,g yy:

/
THE{P’EOPLE

(MISAPPROPRIATIO
(Sections 528and 53/ of the Penal Code).

DS,

) 2

=
. ﬁ?)ouz,mc ‘:’\/ /g,ofv\—j/

~a..d Larceny,

K

. / J(?T/R. FELLOWS,
& 77/ District Attorney.
< ). »,‘ IL Caad ,4»}
@(%c—é&//
A True Bill.
) }’/ S L TN J,V . ‘
b L

Foreman.




POLICE COURT,
"SECOND DISTRIET, :
W. L. ORMSBY, JH.

STENOGRAPHER.























































“ .
Police Cotrrt— 2 District. Affidavit—Larceny.
@ity and (leuttg} ) .

of “;Hm Pork, faﬁ[g@ Yoty

of N026¥ [ : ﬂﬂ'ﬂ%&éwm 4 Street, 4;0'5 ....... p 7 ........... years,
occupatzonéﬂ’@ﬂ%a&d)ﬂ'/ﬂjmp being duly sworn
deposes and s@?%ﬁ ‘097}04?7&6 ................................ day ojaMV’ .............. 18?@7&5 the City of New

York, in the County of New York. was feloniously taken, stolen and carried away from the possession
‘ of deponent, in the...¢37....time, the following property, viz : '

............................. | :;mp.fﬂ/ﬁfm/%a@

!

Mé_fw . oltl S & S
Gy o Tt oy 5T

e
oo

and that this deponent

; has a probadble cause to suspect, and does sus_g:?at (ke said property was feloniously taken, stolen,
oo

=R

s and carried away by../.s mgé/ AT

’ )
B ‘ 49&%&&‘—ﬂﬂb¢%ﬁ”% »
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C e

L3

' CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK,

Q cupation.....,..ﬂ.;Cﬁ:gé’ékM

A S Stl'ee_e being dyly sworn deposes and

says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit of

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponents’own

knowledge.




. Bec. 198700, "

“'CITY AND COUNTY :
.OF NEJW YORK, 58

¥ ‘ : ‘{' © e : A
sz& % e o being  duly examined before the under- -

istriet Police Court. v

signed according to law, %he an%d charge ; and being. informed that it is b»~ right to
make' a statement in retdtion to tifh charge against Ar22° ; that the statement is designed to -

enable h if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged agz:ti}s-tfha_,_, -

that " he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that l}ﬂ, * waiver canrot be used

against IM the trial. )

Question.  What is your name ? / . :

)

Answer. - % &/?/M/ j;’—/-f i

Question. How old are you ? . / : j
- Answer, / 8 Crs ' : L

Question. Where were you born ? ’

Answer. Q(( %Z_ ‘

Question. Where do you live, and how long have you resided there ?

Answer. é M—&/ W »Z WZ

Question. What is your b%iness or profession ?

Answer. /:/24 f//;/ o _

Question.  Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the -

testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend %o your
exculpation ? ’ :
/7.




)

See. 151. Police Gourt,_Q- _District.
Tn the name of the People of the State of New York; To the Sheriff of the County

" CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK, 85-  of New York, or any Marshal or Policeman of the City of New York:

the undersigned, one of the Police

Whereas, Complaint in writing/aad uponfath, jhas

Justices OjZﬁ City of New -
of No. s fom M _ day of__\ - K

‘Wherefore, the said Complainant has prayed that the saf Thdant

answer the said complaint.
: These are Th ore, in the name of th?’EOPLE of the State of New York, to command you the said
Sheriff, Marshal®¥af.d Policemen, and every ou, to apprehend the bod said Defendant

ISTRICT POLICE €OURT, in the said City, or in

may be apprehended and bound to

and forthwith bring 7770 _before me, at the_______&==7"
case of my absence or inability to act, before the nearest or most accessible Police Justice in this City, to answer the

said charge, and to be dealt with according to lgw.
Dated at the City of New York, this. é

OLICE JUSTICE,
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Distrirct.

ing been brought before me under this War ant,

Dated 188
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THE PEOPLE, &c.
o] co

Vs,
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is committed for
WARDEN and KEEPER of the City Prison of the City of New York.

The Defendant
taken, and brought before the Magistrate, to answer

the within charge, pursuant to the..command con-

tained in this Warrant.

The within named

examination to the

Police Justice. -

This Warrant may be executed on Sunday or at
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It a,ﬁpea,ring to me by the within depositions and statements that the crime therein mentioned has been

committed, and that there is sujficient cause to believe the within named

%CZ/%

he be held to answer the same and he

Zuilty thereof, I order that be admitted 1o bail in the sum of’

and be committed to the Warden and Keeper of

£7 bty Hundred Dollars

the City Prison, of the City of New York, until  he Give such bail.

L s Yo ,Vn\ // (A2 %/r/ééﬁozzc Justice.

Dated

I have admitted the above-named

to bail to answer by the wndertaling hereto annexed.

Police Justice.

8

Dated

There being no sufficient cause to believe the within named

‘ Luilty of the offence within mentioned. I order h to be discharded.

Police Justice.
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THE PEOPLE

City and County of New York, ss :

% %ﬁa,a/(/ being duly
sworn, deposes and says: I reside at No. / T 4 é/gw/b/ﬂy';o «Z%_'

Street, in the Gity of New York. Iam a Subpaena server in the office of the District Attorney of

the City*and County of New York.. On the Q{f day of %4,7 18 7 /
N (= .

I called at l—Csl{- MW

) L

-@feg/e; /"4"4,:& leotcelogiees o ‘PMM st

-
the complainant herein, to serve'ém with the annexed subpoena, and was informed by fh;u.
> e Mtare WIND Lhe annexed subpoena, and w 110

Sl urver,




- @onxt of General Sessions,

THE PEOPLE, on the Complaint of

‘Sudbpozra Server,

| mmﬂ Witness.
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o DistrIicT Porice Courr,

THE PEOPLE,

. Ez COPLA

Folice Fustice.

- Court, do hereby certify that the

within testimony in them true
the original Stenographer's notes of the testimony o .

Zrog rapher.




@ourt of Gruernl Fessions of the Peace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

TuE PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YOREK,

against

/

The Grand Jury of the City and Cbunty of New York, by this in.dictment,’ accuse
of the CRIME 0F ST gr oy LARCENY, 1 € . oo o s Aomgmen  cOmmitted
as follows:

The said M%,\@y

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the
e P, — day of T D a . in the year of our Lord
one thousand eight hundred and eighty-w;o& at the City and County aforesaid, being
then and there the elesand-sorrani-od SN A S TS e S

_———

. R R D an
and as such:};.ﬁ::mﬂ—servmt,@len and there having in his possession, custody and contro
certain memeys, goods, chattels and personal property of the said ’

. - _
E—M—V\. M\/}.Qm .
the true owner thereof, to wit: a. o :,{,_{.\,\( ,@g e I DI s S ?
/M—o—o\ NS o ’V‘\li’\axhl\m «3‘04-_.L;\'€~—/~A’W /‘.~\>\~‘ »QN s ﬁ

'&:ﬂ_ W mcu PR WMM\,@NK\. PRGN, NN,

&’c‘\-—"— R D D N S:-n.‘.x,..\(&—_.;o DL QQQJ\A—, Lo —
_W(.:(«X\n’\ m&g’v_ }N\:M&-QQ PRS- ﬁl\.mw’\@ k\' ———
RS 2 LK e Reaaang 2 o S SO N
“‘W“&‘"a\‘ M”’M&N ‘&.—\Q oS \‘N 3\::—4:“%\_\& &Q:L\w’

the said —— Q%.w.&\, oo afterwaxrds, to wit:
on the day and in the year aforesaid, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,
did feloniously appropriate the saidc& B, S e K X —

to his own use, with intent to deprive and defraud the 8aid TS~ S &‘\""-"Q"-ﬁwj

of the same, and of the use and benefit thereof; and the same memeys; goods, chattels and
bersonal property of the said TS . A NN S N A —

did then and there and thereby feloniously steal, against the form of the statute in such case
made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and
their dignity.

JOHN R. FELLOWS,
District Attorney.




